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Monday, April 11, 2005

--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. 

The Board is sitting today to hear the motion filed by Natural Resource Gas Limited, initially on January 10th and as amended on February 23rd, requesting the Board to review certain findings of this Board's decision of December 20th, specifically with request to a review and variance of the Board's finding that a long-term deemed debt rate of 8 percent was just and reasonable, and also seeking a review and variance of the Board's disallowance of legal fees associated with the appeal to the Divisional Court of the decision of this Board dated April 19th, 2004.

The applicant has requested in this motion that this hearing be conducted by a fresh Panel, and the Board has agreed to that request.  

May we have the appearances, please? 


APPEARANCES:

MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll, counsel to NRG.

MR. BUDD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the Board, Peter Budd, also as counsel to NRG.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Budd.

MR. MILLAR:  I am Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and for the court reporter, that is Millar, M-i-l-l-a-r.  With me, for Board Staff, are Kathi Litt and Rudra Mukherji, and also with me today is our eager young articling student who is going to be dealing with some of the issues today, Mr. Peter Faye.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Faye.


Mr. Stoll and Mr. Budd, part of this application, in the usual course, requires the determination of the threshold question.  In this case, the Board has decided to dispose of that and allow you to proceed directly to argument on the merits.  We are exercising our jurisdiction under the rules in that regard.  It seems to us it would take as much time to argue the threshold question as the entire case, so with your concurrence we would like to proceed directly to the merits of matter.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, we concur. 


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed. 


MR. STOLL:  I think we have a couple of preliminary administrative matters --

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. STOLL:  -- to get out of the way, first of all.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  I understand there was a -- I think there was an exhibit –-

MR. STOLL:  There are some exhibits we want to mark, and I'll look to my right here to make sure I don't go out of order for Ms. Litt.

And the first exhibit would be, and I would intend to mark this just as an exhibit, would be the evidence from RP-2004-0167, which is basically the evidentiary record from the proceeding on which this motion is based.

MS. LITT:  I suggest we assign Exhibit No. 

3.1.

MR. KAISER:  What does that consist of?  Is that

all of the transcripts and the exhibits or what? 

MR. STOLL:  Yes, it does.

MR. KAISER:  The complete record?


MR. STOLL:  It is the complete record.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

EXHIBIT NO. 3.1:  COMPLETE RECORD OF EVIDENCE FROM RP-2004-0167


MR. STOLL:  And for the next exhibit, I would suggest that we do the same thing for the previous hearing, RP-2002-0147.


MS. LITT:  Exhibit 3.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. 3.2:  COMPLETE RECORD OF EVIDENCE FROM RP-2002-0147


MR. STOLL:  The next exhibit would be the motion record of the applicant, 3.3.


MS. LITT:  That's been assigned Exhibit 1.


MR. STOLL:  Oh, sorry. 


EXHIBIT NO. 1:  MOTION RECORD OF THE APPLICANT


MR. STOLL:  Next would be the brief of authorities filed by the applicant.


MS. LITT:  Exhibit 2. 

EXHIBIT NO. 2:  BRIEF OF AUTHORITIES FILED BY THE APPLICANT


MR. STOLL:  We have one exhibit that we'll be referring to, which we provided to Board Staff earlier, and I would ask for them to hand it out now.

MS. LITT:  Exhibit 3.3.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.3:  COMPARISON OF BOARD-APPROVED COST-OF-DEBT METHODOLOGIES

MR. STOLL:  The title of that is: "Comparison of

Board-approved cost-of-debt methodologies." 

Could you repeat that number, Kathi? 

MS. LITT:  Exhibit 3.3.

MR. STOLL:  With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I would just like to make a couple of remarks, and I have conferred with my friend, Mr. Millar and Mr. Faye, about how we would like to proceed this morning.  Subject to your approval, what NRG would propose, and this will only take a minute, is to go through the cost-of-debt issue first, and we would lead direct to the panel, followed by any questions from Board Staff and the Panel may have, and then we would turn our minds to any very brief direct on the legal costs issue, followed again by cross and the questions from the Panel Members. 

And depending on timing, we would make submissions following that, probably this afternoon, depending on how we make out.

With your permission, I would like to make some very brief statement just to set the stage before we go into direct examination.

MR. KAISER:  Before you do that, Mr. Millar, I had asked you to see if the applicant would produce the various debt agreements.  Do you have those? 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I understand that the witness panel has brought the debt instruments.  I understand there may be a couple of pieces missing from some previous years, but would you like that entered as an exhibit now, Mr. Chairman?

MR. KAISER:  Yes, let's get all exhibits out of the way.

MR. STOLL:  That's fine.

MS. LITT:  Exhibit 3.4.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.4:  COPIES OF THE APPLICANT’S DEBT AGREEMENTS

MR. KAISER:  Do we have copies for the parties? 

While they are doing that, Mr. Stoll, you have filed, I guess, the complete record of the previous case, which, I take it, you are asking be considered as evidence in this proceeding.

MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  And do I understand you are going to be calling further evidence? 


MR. STOLL:  Very briefly.  I would suspect the direct for both parts would take no longer than one half hour. 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there actually is one additional exhibit.  I have just spoken with Mr. Stoll, and it is going to come up in Mr. Faye's cross‑examination, but perhaps we can just enter it now.  I understand Mr. Stoll has no objection.

We have copies of, I guess it is, a corporate search we have done on a company called Banco Securities, and there will be some questions on that later, but perhaps we could just enter it as an exhibit now?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And that is 3.5.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.5:  CORPORATE SEARCH RE BANCO SECURITIES


MR. KAISER:  I understand that we have one, two, three, four, five, six, seven, eight, nine agreements?  Do you have those?


Do you have nine agreements?


MR. STOLL:  I think we have ten, so I just want to make sure.  There should be nine, okay.


MR. BUDD:  Mr. Chairman, I have found nine, and the reason I thought there might have been ten is a staple didn't go all the way through to hold the pages together, so I think we are there.


MR. KAISER:  So, Mr. Budd, the first one is an agreement dated September 14th, 1999, between NRG and Junsen Limited?


MR. BUDD:  Yes, I have that, September 14th, 1999.


MR. KAISER:  What exhibit is that, Mr. Millar?  What is the next Exhibit, 3.6?


MR. MILLAR:  We'll number them separately?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So the first one ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  1999.  I'm going to read them off in order.


MR. MILLAR:  The first one we had is 3.4, so we'll keep that.


MR. KAISER:  So what is this, 3.5?


MR. MILLAR:  We have given 3.5 now to -- but we can reorder this.  We've given 3.5 --


MR. KAISER:  It doesn't matter, let's call it 6.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.6:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED SEPTEMBER 14, 1999  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that is the September '99.  That is 3.6.


MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Next, Mr. Budd, September 30th, 1995, another agreement between NRG and Junsen Limited.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sir, I have that.  That will be 3.7, then.


MR. KAISER:  3.7.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.7:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED SEPTEMBER 30, 1995  


MR. KAISER:  Next, agreement between NRG -- dated October 1st, 1992, between Junsen Limited, and that would be 3.8.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sir.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.8:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED OCTOBER 1, 1992


MR. KAISER:  Next, October 1st, 1991, between NRG and Junsen Limited, 3.9.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.9:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED OCTOBER 1, 1991


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Next, November 1st, 1990, between NRG and Junsen limited, and that would be 4.0, I guess?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  3.10.


MR. KAISER:  Or 3.10, I suppose.  All right, 3.10.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.10:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED NOVEMBER 1, 1990


MR. MILLAR:  3.10.


MR. KAISER:  And then we have a general security agreement, dated December 4th, 1995, between NRG and Junsen Limited, 3.11.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sir.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.11:  GENERAL SECURITY AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED DECEMBER 4, 1995


MR. KAISER:  Next, an agreement of September 30th, 1995, again between NRG and Junsen Limited.  That would be 3.12.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.12:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED SEPTEMBER 30, 1995 


MR. MILLAR:  That may be where we are missing one.


MR. KAISER:  You don't have that one?


MR. STOLL:  I don't at this point, no.


MR. KAISER:  I don't know whether it is a repeat of an earlier one.


MR. MILLAR:  It may be a repeat, Mr. Chair.  I notice Exhibit 3.7 was also from September of 1995.


MR. KAISER:  No, it is different. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is different.


MR. KAISER:  Anyway, look for that one, Mr. Budd, and let's keep going, and we'll come back to this.


The next one I have in my pile is March 24th of 2000, NRG, Junsen Limited, and that would be 3.13.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.13:  AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND JUNSEN LIMITED, DATED MARCH 24, 2000


MR. MILLAR:  I have that, thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  And then finally, Mr. Budd, NRG and Imperial Life Assurance Company of Canada, loan agreement of June 24th, 1994, 3.14.

EXHIBIT NO. 3.14:  LOAN AGREEMENT BETWEEN NRG AND IMPERIAL LIFE ASSURANCE COMPANY OF CANADA, DATED JUNE 24, 1994  


MR. BUDD:  Yes, sir, we have that, as well.  We'll find the other one.


MR. McCALLUM:  I believe the 3.12 and the 3.17 are the same.


MR. BUDD:  They are duplicates?


MR. BUDD:  Mr. McCallum hasn't been sworn, Mr. Chairman, but I am advised that 3.7 are duplicates.


MR. McCALLUM:  And 3.12 are the same agreement.


MR. KAISER:  All right, I'll check that.


MR. KAISER:  You said 3‑point?


MR. McCALLUM:  3.7.


MR. KAISER:  And?


MR. McCALLUM:  3.12.


MR. BUDD:  And that, in my copy, sir, is a three‑page document.


MR. KAISER:  3.7 is, but 3.12 is, according to my records, a 17‑page document.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  They are markedly different.


MR. BUDD:  They are, quite so, sir.


MR. KAISER:  You were probably just missing one from your pile.


MR. BUDD:  And I want to apologize on behalf of the Board.  We were asked to produce this I think on Friday.  Some of them were cerlox copies.  They got caught in the copier and we had some difficulty, but I do believe they are all here.


MR. KAISER:  We appreciate your effort, Mr. Budd, in producing these on short notice.


MR. BUDD:  No problem.


MR. KAISER:  If the witnesses could be sworn, please.

NATURAL RESOURCE GAS PANEL 1; AIKEN, McCALLUM, BLAKE:


RANDY AIKEN; Sworn.


SANDY McCALLUM; Sworn.


WILLIAM BLAKE; Sworn.

MS. NOWINA:  The witnesses are sworn, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, you had an opening statement?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, I do, and I intend to be very brief with my statement, and then get to the direct examination.


OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. STOLL:


MR. STOLL:  As you can well understand, the utility's decision to confront its regulator is serious, and I can assure you NRG deliberated long and hard about pursuing this hearing.  However, in the end, it was felt that this represented a fresh opportunity to move forward with the Board.


This motion on its face deals with the recovery of certain costs, costs of debt and legal costs, costs that NRG feels were prudently incurred in the management of its business, and on one level, that's correct.  However, when one looks beyond the cost of debt and the legal costs, there are principles of vital importance to NRG and to the regulation of utilities, in general.

These principles include NRG's expectation to natural justice, to know and understand the case it has to meet, the right to have prudently incurred transactions included in its cost base, the right not to be judged with the benefit of hindsight and the right to require the regulator to behave in a non‑arbitrary, fair and consistent manner.


The ability to approve a utility's rates and costs is a necessary and extraordinary power in respect of the economic health and well‑being of a utility.  This is especially so when it touches the utility's ability to assert its rights vis‑a‑vis that regulator.


No utility should be expected to base its decision to assert their legal rights solely on a comparison of the costs of litigation versus the amount to be recovered, and a utility acting in good faith should not feel intimidated by its regulator in these respects.

NRG feels that it was denied the fundamental rights and that is why it brought the motion. 

To accomplish this, NRG has asked Mr. Blake to provide a very brief opening statement, to give some background on NRG, and then it is our intention to briefly and separately examine the witness panel on each of the costs and legal costs issues.

At the end of the direct examination of each issue, the panel will be subject to cross-examination and questions from the Board.

With respect to the costs of debt, NRG will demonstrate that the methodology used in the proceeding departed not only from past practices of this Board with NRG but also other utilities.  In addition, the evidence before the Board supporting NRG's request was reasonable.  No issues regarding the cost of debt were raised or noticed until the oral hearing. 

Finally, the decision resulted in depriving NRG of approximately $100,000 in interest costs and thereby resulted in a rate that we feel is neither just nor reasonable, as required by the Board's enabling legislation. 

NRG recognizes that the cost of doing business in a heavily regulated industry -- sorry, I'll back up just a second.

With respect to the legal costs issue, NRG recognizes that there is a cost of doing business in a heavily regulated industry such as ours.  However, the cost of letting a decision stand that is, in our submission, in error is much greater.  Therefore, we intend to confirm the extent of the expenditures to date by NRG in the appeal and, as NRG has in the past paid for the Board's outside counsel in certain instances, NRG felt that these would be, again, passed along to it. 

 The reasonableness of the expenditures may be informed by comparing NRG's costs with those experienced by the Board.  I don't mean to suggest that they'll be too determinative of the issue, but merely helpful in guiding the Board as to the reasonableness. 

And one last point before we go to direct.  In light of the fact that the Divisional Court has heard the appeal and has reserved its decision, it is our submission that discussion of the merits of the appeal or the legal advice in pursuing that appeal is subject to privilege and not properly the subject of review at this time.

Thank you.  And with that, I would ask your permission to move to direct examination.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have a question, Mr. Kaiser. 

I just want to understand that last point, Mr. Stoll.  What is it that you are suggesting is privileged? 

MR. STOLL:  The communications between my client and their lawyers about the appeal route that was taken to Divisional Court, the substance of those conversations and any assessment as to the probability of success, those types of issues.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The accounts are going to be available? 

MR. STOLL:  The gross amounts of the accounts would be available, certainly.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And those accounts will be exclusively referable to the appeal.

MR. STOLL:  Yes, they were.

MR. KAISER:  So is it your view that an opinion from counsel as to the merits of the appeal is privileged communication? 

MR. STOLL:  Yes, it is. 

EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:

MR. STOLL:  At this point, I would like to introduce the panel and ask them to provide their name and their position.  And for the Board's benefit, the CVs of each of the witnesses were provided and may be found at RP-2004-01 -- it should be 67?  67, Exhibit A, tab 11. 

And with that, we can start with Mr. Blake. 

MR. BLAKE:  Good morning.  I am the President and General Manager of Natural Resource Gas Limited, and I am pleased to be here this morning.

MR. McCALLUM:  My name is Sandy McCallum.  I am the Financial Manager for Natural Resource Gas. 

MR. AIKEN:  My name is Randy Aiken.  I am a principal with the consulting firm Aiken & Associates. 

MR. STOLL:  Mr. Blake, I mentioned that you wanted to provide a very brief background on NRG.  Could you please provide that at this time? 

MR. BLAKE:  NRG is a relatively small utility, and we provided a map of our system in the last filing, in the RP-2004-0167, Exhibit A, and it looks something like this.  The red lines on that map, if you were to bring it up, would be the pipeline system and the franchise boundaries.

We currently have about 6,100 customers, and they are residential, small commercial, industrial and agricultural.  And the agricultural customers are largely dominated by the tobacco accounts, and those tobacco accounts, together with a large tobacco processing plant, form about 25 percent of our total load.  So we have a strong dependence on that tobacco industry. 

MR. STOLL:  Thank you. 

And what is the relief that NRG is seeking? 

MR. BLAKE:  Well, there, the two issues that we have

spoken of, first is the cost-of-debt issue and second is the legal costs. 

With respect to the first of the issues, the cost-of-debt issue, from the company's perspective, there is a need for certainty in order to be able to move forward, including being able to move forward on financing.  Lenders are also looking for some measure of certainty that the company will be able to pay its long-term loans in accordance with the terms of the agreements. 

We are requesting that the Board amend its decision and permit NRG to recover its forecasted debt costs of its actual debt instruments, as the Board has approved in the past for NRG and other gas utilities.

Mr. Aiken will discuss or will have a review of these -- the calculation of these costs in a few moments.

The second issue is with respect to the legal costs, and we are asking for a review of the legal costs that the company has incurred with respect to an appeal of a previous decision of the Board.

MR. STOLL:  Now, if we could turn up the exhibit that was handed out, 3.3, cost of -- comparison of Board-approved cost-of-debt methodologies.

Mr. Aiken, did you prepare this exhibit? 

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, I did. 

MR. STOLL:  And do these tables include new evidence?

MR. AIKEN:  No, they are a summary of previous evidence and Board decisions.

MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  And what are the tables intended to demonstrate? 

MR. AIKEN:  If you look at the first table on Exhibit 3.3, that is the one titled, "Comparison of Board-approved Cost-of-Debt Methodologies," what I have attempted to do here, highlighting these three fiscal years, is to provide a comparison of the methodologies in each of these three years and show the impact on the cost of debt from the change in the methodologies.

I'll start by saying, first of all, that in all three years shown here, the Board approved a deemed common equity ratio of 50 percent for NRG, so that was common across all three fiscal years. 

If you look at the ratios column and the highlighted numbers in red, starting in fiscal 2003, the way the Board came up with those ratios is the methodology that they had used for NRG previous to 2003, and is also the methodology currently used for Union and Enbridge.  And that methodology is to take the actual long-term debt, calculate its ratio as a function of rate base, the same thing with the short-term debt, the actual short-term debt instruments in place, and then the unfunded debt is the difference between the total rate base, the deemed common equity, and the actual debt instruments in place.  So that's how you come up with the 37.4, 1.24 and the 11.36.

In fiscal 2004, the Board changed its methodology, and rather than determining ratios for long-term debt, short-term debt and unfunded debt, they simply said the overall debt and, of course, that would be at 50 percent given the deem 50 percent in equity. 


In fiscal 2005, the Board reverted to the methodology it had used in fiscal 2003 previously, meaning that the long-term debt ratio of 31.43 percent was based on the actual long-term debt instruments in place.  The same thing with the short-term debt, based on the actual debt instrument that was in place, and again, the unfunded debt is the difference between rate base, common equity and the debt instruments in place.


Turning to the cost rate, I'll first deal with the numbers in green, which are the short‑term and unfunded debt numbers.


In fiscal 2003 and previously, the Board has approved a rate on short‑term and unfunded debt equal to the prime rate forecast plus 150 basis points.

In fiscal 2004, that disappeared, because there was no short‑term or unfunded debt component specified.

And in fiscal 2005, we were back to the Board approving again 5.5 percent, and that was based on the prime rate forecast plus 150 basis points.

Going back now to fiscal 2003, in terms of the long‑term debt, the 11.38 percent that is highlighted in blue, that was the actual weighted cost of the long‑term debt instruments in place in that year.


In fiscal 2004, rather than using the actual long‑term or short‑term debt rates, the Board deemed the rate of 9 percent on ‑‑ deemed on the whole overall debt component.


And my understanding of why the Board did that was it was assumed that NRG would refinance all of its debt, not just its long‑term debt, but its long‑term, short‑term and the unfunded debt, and a 9 percent rate was reasonable, and that included redeployment costs, as well as financing costs for the new debt instrument that would replace the existing instruments.


In 2005, the Board again reverted back to splitting out the ratios for long‑term debt, short‑term debt and unfunded debt, but rather than using the actual embedded cost of long‑term debt for NRG, they deemed a rate of 8 percent.


Now, the overall impact on the cost of debt, and these numbers don't show up on these schedules, but the overall cost of debt in fiscal 2003 for NRG was 10.07 percent, and that's based on Board‑approved numbers.


The Board-approved number for fiscal 2004 obviously is the 9 percent, and then in fiscal 2005 the weighted average cost of debt is 7.07 percent.


So you can see there is a substantial decrease in the allowed costs of debt, especially in that last year from 9 percent to 7.07 percent, and that's because of the 8 percent.  It is partially driven by a reduction in the short‑term rate, but it is primarily driven by that low 8 percent deemed rate.


If you want to move to the second page now of that Exhibit 3.3, that is titled "Fiscal 2005 Interest Cost Calculations".  I provided this to highlight the differences in the interest costs that we are talking about.


The first column labelled "Debt" is the Board‑approved debt of 4.6 million, and it shows the same breakdown as in the previous page under fiscal 2005 between long‑term, short‑term and unfunded debt.


The next column, labelled "A, Board-Approved" is the interest rates applied to each of those components of the debt and the interest costs, so the total interest cost approved in NRG's rates is $327,814.


The next column, labelled "B, Actual Long-Term Debt Costs", has the short‑term and unfunded debt unchanged from the Board‑approved numbers, but reflects the actual long‑term debt at 11.37 percent, and the calculation of that is shown in note number 2 at the bottom, or in the middle of that page.


And that is based on a standby fee on the debenture of $3,750 that had been previously approved by the Board; financing cost amortization, again previously approved by the Board, and this was related to obtaining the Imperial Life loan in 1994.  The loan line, the $951,000, is a loan from Banco Securities at 9.57 percent; the Imperial Life loan at 11.8 percent, which was previously approved by the Board; and the debenture is the Banco debenture, which has a rate of 11.03 percent, and that gives rise to the calculation of 11.37 percent overall long‑term weighted debt cost.


So back in column B, the total debt interest cost is $425,963.  The line below that shows that this is 98,000-and-change lower than the Board‑approved numbers.


I have also provided, for comparison purposes, column C and D.  Column C is what the interest costs would be if the 8 percent that the Board deemed on the long‑term debt followed the fiscal 2004 decision, and that 8 percent was applied to all the debt.  And that gives rise to interest costs of $370,860 or roughly 43,000 more than the Board has approved.


And then column D shows all the debt at 9.2 percent, which is the rate that NRG had filed in its evidence.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Just a couple of follow‑up questions.


Is the methodology that was followed in fiscal 2005 used elsewhere by this Board?


MR. AIKEN:  In its regulation of the gas utilities in Ontario, not to my knowledge, no.  It is really a hybrid of what it did in the previous two years.  It is taken ‑‑ the ratios are done the same way as were done in 2003 and previously, whereas the deeming of the long‑term debt rate is somewhat related to what they did in fiscal 2004, although what was done in fiscal 2004 was the deemed rate was applied to all the debt, whereas the 8 percent in 2005 was applied only to the existing long‑term debt component.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  And I believe you used the word "significant" to describe the disconnect between the actual debt costs and the Board‑approved numbers.  Would you consider the discrepancy reasonable in the circumstances?


MR. AIKEN:  No.  Again, if you look at the second page of fiscal 2005 interest cost calculations and the difference from the Board-approved of the actual long‑term debt versus the Board-approved, the 98,149, and realizing that that difference comes entirely from the long‑term debt component in the lines above, that 98,000 represents approximately 30 percent of the interest cost of the actual long‑term debt that NRG will be paying on an actual basis.  In other words, the 98,000 is roughly 30 percent of the 331,000 cost of the long‑term debt.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Those are my questions regarding the cost of debt, and as I mentioned before, I would turn it over to Staff and the Board for questioning.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

Mr. Millar or Mr. Faye?


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:

MR. FAYE:  I would like to start by just reviewing the role of each of the witness panel, since I am more or less unfamiliar with the company and it would be helpful to me to understand the role so that I could direct my questions appropriately.


So with your indulgence, Mr. Blake, can I assume that you would answer any general management questions, any corporate level questions that I might have?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And would you be knowledgeable about the financial affairs, as well?


MR. BLAKE:  To a large extent, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  

Mr. McCallum, do I understand that you are an employee of NRG, or no?


MR. McCALLUM:  I am actually an employee of Cornerstone.  One of my functions is to act as the financial manager of Natural Resource Gas Limited.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the relationship of Cornerstone to NRG?


MR. McCALLUM:  It is an affiliate.


MR. FAYE:  An affiliate.


And do you work full-time on a contract basis to NRG or do you also work in other affiliates?


MR. McCALLUM:  I work for other companies, as well.


MR. FAYE:  So you would be knowledgeable about the financial affairs of NRG; is that correct?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, I would.

MR. FAYE:  And financial affairs of other affiliates, would you also be knowledgeable of those? 

MR. McCALLUM:  Of the ones that I work on, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Which affiliates?  Can we list the ones that you do work for? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I do primarily the work for a company called NRG Corp., which is an oil and gas exploration and development company, as well as a company that is in the process of being wound up called Junsen Corporation, which is another oil and gas exploration company in the U.S.


MR. FAYE:  You mentioned that Junsen Corp. is in the process of being wound up.


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  It is not conducting any further business? 


MR. McCALLUM:  It is not.  It has sold its assets and will be wound up.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you. 


And Mr. Aiken, I understand that you are a consultant to the companies, but not an employee of them.


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct. 


MR. FAYE:  Since you have gone through the cost of debt, I am assuming that you are knowledgeable about the financial instruments as well; is that so? 


MR. AIKEN:  Not really.  I am knowledgeable with the results of the financial instruments, not the details that are embedded in the agreements. 


MR. FAYE:  So more along the lines of economic matters involving the --


MR. AIKEN:  Economic and regulatory matters, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.


I was going to go through a brief synopsis of the debt instruments and the rate base, but since Mr. Aiken has done a rather thorough job of that, I don't see the need to repeat it.  I think I would just like to draw attention to a couple of the more salient features of the financing, and this is probably obvious to all, but I won't belabour the subject.  The debt equity ratio is deemed and it is 50 percent; is that correct?


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  The long-term debt is a variety of instruments, and the weighted average of those instruments for 2005 would be 11.37 percent; is that right? 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.  There are three debt instruments included in that.


MR. FAYE:  The short-term debt consists, it seems, of an operating loan of $118,000, and that's at prime plus 1 and a half percent; is that right? 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct. 


MR. FAYE:  And the balance of the debt part of the equity ratio of 50 percent is made up of this thing called unfunded debt, also known as a plug number; is that correct? 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct, yes. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And that unfunded debt attracts the short-term interest rate, the prime plus 1 and a half percent. 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct. That's what the Board has approved.


MR. FAYE:  All of those questions, Mr. McCallum, do you agree with the answers that Mr. Aiken gave there? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I do. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you. 


If I could just have a moment, Mr. Chair, to skip through all of the questions that I am not going to ask. 


MR. KAISER:  Always a good idea not to ask questions you don't need to ask.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair. 


The 2004 rate, this would be in RP-2002-0167, this was an overall rate of 9 percent; am I right? 


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, except for -- I believe it was RP-2002-0147, not 67.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, you are correct. 


And that is an overall rate on both components of the debt, not a separate rate on one and a separate rate on the other averaged together to become 9 percent. 


MR. AIKEN:  Again, correct, with the exception that it is not both. There were three components: the long-term debt, the short-term debt, and the unfunded debt. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you. 


That rate also included an allowance for transaction costs for refinancing the debt; am I right in that? 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct. 


MR. FAYE:  How much was that allowance? 


MR. AIKEN:  I believe it was around $250,000 for the finance -- yes, the refinancing costs, the costs of obtaining a new debt instrument.


MR. FAYE:  And over how many years would that financing transaction cost be in the rates?  It was not all-in-one rate case, was it? 


MR. AIKEN:  No, I believe it was going to be amortized over ten years, so it would be $25,000 a year.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  Did NRG refinance its debt in 2004?  Mr. Blake?


MR. BLAKE:  No, it did not.


MR. FAYE:  What happened to the transaction costs that were collected from your customers in the rates, the $25,000 that we have just arrived at? 


MR. BLAKE:  It was -- it formed part of the 9 percent allowance that the company was allowed. 


MR. FAYE:  But not having been paid out as an actual expense, would it be in retained earnings? 


MR. AIKEN:  I can answer that.  The answer would be no.  It would partially offset the difference between the actual long-term debt cost that NRG incurred and the overall deemed rate, deemed interest cost that the Board approved. 


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  I hadn't thought of that spin on it.  It is an interesting one.  Maybe I can back up one step and just understand clearly why the Board would have allowed $250,000 in the rates.  It was to cover refinancing costs; is that correct?


Mr. McCallum, you would know this, I think.


MR. McCALLUM:  That was the purpose, to have an allowance being included in there, yes. 


MR. FAYE:  It wasn't a bonus, for instance, for the company to take if it chose not to refinance. 


MR. McCALLUM:  No. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So from that point of view, it could be distributed to the shareholder because it is in your retained earnings lines.  Regardless of how it is characterized, it sits in retained earnings; is that right? 


MR. McCALLUM:  Exclusive of the other interest costs that Mr. Aiken has spoken of, we are paying a blended rate of higher than the 9 percent allowed, and so it would be offsetting those additional interest costs that we would be paying. 


MR. FAYE:  I understand that, but let me just ask one more question before I end up belabouring this point.  If the Board hadn't contemplated that the company would be refinancing its debt, is it your understanding that the Board still would have allowed $250,000 in the rates? 


MR. AIKEN:  If there wasn't going to be refinancing, then you are correct, the $250,000 would not be in rates, and instead of a deemed 9 percent, the Board would have done what it has done or had done the previous number of years and allowed the actual cost of long-term debt.  If the Board assumed no refinancing I don't know why they wouldn't allow the actual cost of debt, as they had previously done for a number of years. 


MR. FAYE:  Yeah, I am not sure what the motivation of the Board was in the 9 percent overall, but if they didn't contemplate a refinancing, I would suggest another alternative to you would be that they would have given less than 9 percent.  In fact, taking the $250,000 out might be a half a point, you might have got 8 and a half percent, would that be another interpretation you could put on that? 


MR. AIKEN:  I don't think so, because if you don't contemplate the refinancing, then you have lost the whole rationale for using a deemed rate of any kind on the overall debt.  If you are not going to refinance, then why put all the debt together and say, here is a deemed rate for it, whether it be 8 and a half or 9 or 10 or whatever. 


MR. FAYE:  Yeah, as I say, I don't -- I wasn't part of the case and I don't know what the logic of the Board was, but it seems to me that that 9 percent is comprised of two components.  One is an allowance for actual interest costs and another is an allowance for refinancing costs.  Added together and worked out on an interest basis, this comes to 9 percent.  But removing the financing costs, it is something less than 9 percent.  Would you agree with that? 


MR. AIKEN:  I would agree with that, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  If you took off one side of the equation, yes. 


MR. FAYE:  I would like to turn to the long-term debt and try to trace some of the history of the debt, more as a review than anything else.  If you could turn up tab 4 in the motion record, at paragraph 69, do you follow that? 


Here is a listing of the loans that are outstanding.  In this table, the Imperial Life loan is shown along with loans and debentures from a company called Junsen ‑‑ are you with me on that?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, we are, thank you.


MR. FAYE:  So there is an Imperial Life loan.  There is a loan to a company called Junsen.  There is a loan to Imperial Tobacco.  I understand that loan is since repaid?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  On the Imperial Life loan, is NRG affiliated with Imperial Life in any way?


MR. BLAKE:  No, we are not.


MR. FAYE:  And is the Imperial Life loan linked in any way to insurance that the company might have placed?


MR. BLAKE:  No, it is not.


MR. FAYE:  So Imperial Life doesn't carry any of your liability insurance, your vehicle insurance, employee life insurance benefits that you might have, no linkage at all in that way, completely arm's length; is that your understanding?  Is that correct?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  The Junsen loan is later given to a company called 27 Cadigan Inc.


Can you explain the transaction there?   Who is 27 Cadigan?


MR. McCALLUM:  27 Cadigan Inc. was another company in the corporate group, and Junsen and 27 Cadigan Inc. amalgamated and continued operations under the name of 27 Cadigan Inc.


MR. FAYE:  So 27 Cadigan is an affiliated company?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, it is.


MR. FAYE:  The Board expressed some concern about the non‑arm's length nature of the loans in that proceeding.  If you could turn to tab 4, paragraph 84, and in about the middle of that paragraph, the Board says:  

“The Board is prepared to accept that the 2004

interest rate should be somewhat higher than 8 percent, as this rate will be applied to the current forecast debt, whereas refinancing will require NRG to incur more debt to fund the prepayment penalties and the transaction costs.  However, the Board has not factored the prepayment penalties related to the Junsen debenture into its determinations.  The Board does not believe that NRG would have agreed to the insertion of such a clause into the debenture agreement in 1998 if it had been negotiating with an arm's length third party.”


Would you agree that that was some concern on the Board's part about loans with affiliates?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.  Obviously, it is in the Board's findings, yes, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And, subsequently, 27 Cadigan Inc. sold the loans to a company called Banco Securities Inc.; is that correct?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  How did that transaction come about?


MR. BLAKE:  I am not a party ‑‑ I wasn't party to that agreement, but my understanding was it was done as part of an estate planning ‑‑ estate planning procedure.


MR. FAYE:  This would be an estate planning for whom?


MR. BLAKE:  For the principal shareholder.


MR. FAYE:  Of NRG?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And so is Banco Securities Inc. an estate planning vehicle company?


MR. BLAKE:  I don't know that.  I don't know if it is or not.


MR. FAYE:  Was 27 Cadigan Inc. made aware of the Board's concerns about affiliate loans prior to that transaction occurring?


MR. BLAKE:  I think, in general, the message was passed on to 27 Cadigan Inc., yes.


MR. FAYE:  And after the loans had been sold to Banco, did anyone in your management structure follow up to see that the loans simply hadn't been sold to another affiliate?


MR. BLAKE:  We ‑‑ the question was asked, and we were advised that Banco was not another affiliate.


MR. FAYE:  And who advised you of that?


MR. BLAKE:  Management of 27 Cadigan Inc. and Trent Krauel, who is now the chair of Natural Resource Gas Limited, as well.


MR. STOLL:  If I may, with the Board's permission, I am not meaning to give evidence, but I had a conversation with Mr. Don Fuch, who is a lawyer involved in the estate planning, and he confirmed that there is no affiliation between Banco and NRG or 27 Cadigan.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Who is the principal shareholder of NRG?


MR. BLAKE:  It is currently ‑‑ the principal shareholder is currently a trust.


MR. FAYE:  And in what name does the trust operate?


MR. BLAKE:  It is the Graat NRG Limited Trust.


MR. FAYE:  You previously said that Banco Securities Inc. is a trust.  Is it the same trust?


MR. BLAKE:  I don't believe Banco Securities is a trust.


MR. FAYE:  I'm sorry, maybe I misunderstood.  I thought there had been some evidence that at the time that 27 Cadigan sold the loans to Banco, Banco was operating as a trust of sorts.  Was I incorrect in that understanding?


MR. BLAKE:  I believe you were incorrect.


MR. FAYE:  Was 27 Cadigan ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear that answer.


MR. BLAKE:  I believe you were incorrect.  I have never been under the impression that Banco was a trust.


MR. FAYE:  Then maybe I should rephrase that.  Was 27 Cadigan in the business of managing the family trust, the Graat Trust?


MR. BLAKE:  I don't believe so.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. McCallum, would you have any information on that?


MR. McCALLUM:  27 Cadigan Inc. was in the real estate development business, and for tax planning purposes it was amalgamated with Junsen Limited.  It had no responsibility to act as a trust or administrator.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  Do you have any information on the ownership of Banco Securities Inc.?


MR. BLAKE:  I do not.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. McCallum, do you know who owns Banco Securities?


MR. McCALLUM:  I don't know who the owners are, no.


MR. FAYE:  Do you know who the principal shareholder is?


MR. BLAKE:  I don't know that either.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. McCallum?


MR. McCALLUM:  I do not.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  No.


MR. FAYE:  Was Banco totally at arm's length, then, from NRG or any of its affiliates, or any of the officers or directors or employees of NRG or any of its affiliates?


MR. BLAKE:  I believe so.  When we spoke to a lawyer of the trust, I believe ‑‑


MR. STOLL:  Yes, Mr. Fuch.


MR. BLAKE:  ‑‑ we were advised that it was an arm's length company from Natural Resource Gas Limited.  We did not ask about employees and all of the other things that you just had, but we were advised that it was an arm's length corporation.


MR. FAYE:  Who is A.H. Graat, Jr.?


MR. BLAKE:  A.H. Graat, Jr. was previously the principal shareholder of Natural Resource Gas Limited, and, in this case, also Junsen, and subsequently, as well, Cadigan, 27 Cadigan Inc.


MR. FAYE:  Is he still associated in any way with the companies?


MR. BLAKE:  No, he is not.  I guess I should rephrase that.  He is ‑‑ Natural Resource Gas Limited, he remains as secretary.

MR. FAYE:  And has he ever been associated with Banco Securities Inc.? 


MR. BLAKE:  My understanding from a corporate search is that one time in 19 -- prior to September 30th, 1998, he was -- he had an association with that corporation, and at that time sold the shares and relinquished his position as an officer or director. 


MR. FAYE:  And it is my understanding that you don't know who he sold the shares to? 


MR. BLAKE:  I don't know who now owns the shares. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Since you were able to find out that he did sell the shares, it seems that you would have a source to find out who he sold them to; is that right? 


MR. BLAKE:  I could make that inquiry. 


MR. FAYE:  Could you, please?  Could we have an undertaking on that? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Do we have a number for that, Mr. Millar? 


MS. LITT:  4.1. 


MR. KAISER:  Can you restate the undertaking, Mr. Faye, just so we have it clear on the record.


MR. FAYE:  That will be an undertaking to make inquiries to determine who Mr. A.H. Graat Jr. sold shares in Banco Securities Inc. to. 


UNDERTAKING NO. 4.1:  TO MAKE ENQUIRIES TO DETERMINE 
WHO MR. A.H. GRAAT JR. SOLD HIS SHARES IN BANCO 
SECURITIES INC. TO


MR. FAYE:  I would like to refer you now to the exhibit on corporate search documents that we filed.  This consists of a corporation profile report, that's Exhibit 3.5. 


MR. STOLL:  We haven't been given a copy of that exhibit. 


MR. KAISER:  What is the exhibit number for this? 


MR. MILLAR:  3.5, Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  Do you have a copy, Mr. Stoll? 


Do you need a moment to look at this? 


MR. STOLL:  If I may. 


MR. FAYE:  The second page in is a corporation profile report listing just the information that is on file for Banco Securities Inc.


And I would like to just draw attention, I think, to page 2.  And you'll note that the company originally was not Banco Securities Inc. but was a numbered company, 1086717 Ontario Limited in 1994.  Is that correct, according to your reading of it?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's how this reads, yes.


MR. FAYE:  And Banco Securities Inc. came into effect on November the 12th of 2003; would you agree with that?  


MR. KAISER:  Well, the incorporation date was 1994, Mr. Faye, if you read the first page.


MR. FAYE:  It is just above the -- just under the corporate name history on page 2 of the corporation profile report.  There is an entry for Banco Securities effective 2003, 11/12.


MR. KAISER:  I understand, but the previous page has an incorporation date of 1994.  Oh, it's the same date, I'm sorry -- no, it is not the same date.  I guess it is the same date as the numbered Ontario company. 


MR. FAYE:  Yes, that is the point I am trying to make, Mr. Chair, thank you.


The Banco Securities name didn't appear on the corporate record until late in the fall of 2003.  That's my understanding of this document; would that be your understanding, having looked at it? 


MR. McCALLUM:  Based on our brief review of this, that would appear to make sense, a name change would be done through articles of amendment.  But without going through the full package, I cannot confirm that. 


MR. FAYE:  All right. 


MR. KAISER:  Do we know who Mr. Jones is?


MR. FAYE:  I am going to come to that, Mr. Chairman, in a moment.


MR. KAISER:  All right. 


MR. FAYE:  If I could just turn your attention to the next report in that group, this would be a corporation point-in-time report as of 1995, 05/10. 


And on page 2 of that report, towards the bottom, you'll see the name Anthony H. Graat Jr. as a director of the corporation.  Is this the same Anthony H. Graat Jr. that we have previously referred here to as A.H. Graat Jr.?


MR. BLAKE:  I would assume so, but I am not following where you are making the reference.  Could you repeat your reference? 


MR. FAYE:  Corporation point-in-time report, 1995/05/10.  Do you have that document? 


MR. BLAKE:  Near the back of the pack? 


MR. KAISER:  Yes, they should be numbered.  It is a couple of pages back. 


MR. BLAKE:  Your question again, was that the same Mr. Graat as we were speaking of previously? 


MR. FAYE:  Right.


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, I would assume so, yes.


MR. FAYE:  And on the cover page of that corporation point-in-time report, the mailing address, 684 Richmond Street, 3rd floor, London, Ontario, is that a familiar address to NRG? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, that was the -- that was an address where a number of Mr. Graat's companies were managed from. 


MR. FAYE:  So in light of the information presented on these documents, at least at the time of the mid '90s, it would appear that NRG and 1086717 Ontario Limited had a common shareholder, Mr. A.H. Graat; would you agree with that? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, I would.


MR. FAYE:  And would have been affiliated companies at that time? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, that's true. 


MR. STOLL:  Excuse me --


MR. KAISER:  Well, do we know that he was a shareholder? 


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  That was my question. 


MR. FAYE:  He is listed as director.  He is listed as president --


MR. KAISER:  Administrator.


MR. FAYE:  And administrator.  There is no information on shareholders here, though.


MR. BLAKE:  I am told -- I think in my earlier statement, my recollection is that my information was that on September 30th of 1998, he ceased to be a shareholder or an officer or director at that time.  So I would assume at that time, it was at that time that the shares of the company were sold. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you. 


Going forward in time now --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Blake, what was that date again? 


MR. BLAKE:  September 30th, 1998.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  September 30th, '98, thank you. 


MR. KAISER:  And how is it that you know the shares were sold on that date? 


MR. BLAKE:  We made an inquiry last Friday of the corporate lawyer that works for the associated companies and has done some work on the trust, and made that inquiry so that -- because we felt that that would be a question that you would be asking, and so made that inquiry on Friday morning. 


And Mr. Stoll, as he said, was a party to that conversation.  We wanted to make sure we had the information that you would likely be asking. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, just to be clear, the lawyer's name again was? 


MR. STOLL:  Mr. John, and I am going to spell it, Fuch, F-u-c-h.  He is with the firm Heenan Blaikie, here in Toronto.  


MR. KAISER:  And Heenan Blaikie is acting for whom? 


MR. STOLL:  My understanding is he is handling part of the estate planning for Mr. Graat and the administration of the trust.


MR. KAISER:  But he is not acting for the companies, or is he? 


MR. STOLL:  Not to my knowledge. 


MR. FAYE:  A couple more questions on the manner in which the transaction came about. 


You said that you asked some questions that you thought the Board would be interested in hearing the answers to, but you didn't think to ask the question of who the shares were sold to?


MR. BLAKE:  I didn't ask that question.  I am not ‑‑ I didn't think it was important as to who the shares were sold to in 1998.  I thought the important thing was that the concern of the Board would be if he was a shareholder or an officer or director of the company, so that was the question I asked.


MR. FAYE:  The Board's concern has generally been with affiliates, and it is comforting to know that Mr. Graat is no longer a shareholder, and so there wasn't a tie‑in there.  But did it occur to you that perhaps the shares had been sold to another entity that might end up being an affiliate, as well?


MR. BLAKE:  We asked if it was affiliated with NRG in any way, and we were advised that it was not.


MR. FAYE:  You were assured not, thank you.


And I'll turn to the question that the Chair asked a moment ago, and flipping forward in these corporation point-in-time reports, in 1998 ‑‑ I don't have a complete record here.  Look at, if you will, the corporate point-in-time report as of 2003/10/10, and here the name Mr. Graham Jones appears.  


On page 2, you'll see that Mr. Jones is listed as director, and on page 3 he is listed as president.  Do you know who Mr. Jones is?


MR. BLAKE:  I do not know Mr. Jones.


MR. FAYE:  And, Mr. McCallum, do you have any association with Mr. Jones?


MR. McCALLUM:  I do not.


MR. FAYE:  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  No.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That would complete the questions on those corporate search reports.


I would like to ask a few questions on the refinancing of NRG's debt.  At the last hearing, NRG indicated that it would be pursuing discussions with potential lenders; indeed, that it had had some initial discussions with potential lenders that would be possibly refinancing the debt.


Could you bring us up to date on what has transpired since that last hearing?  Have you had any further discussions?


MR. BLAKE:  We have had, I guess, just some passing discussions, just enough to keep the lenders that we had spoken to interested.


What we are doing, as we noted in the last hearing, is we are preparing a five‑year capital expenditure forecast which we would ‑‑ which we will be utilizing in a package that we will take to the lenders, and in that way it will not ‑‑ the advances under the loan would be used to take out the current loans, Imperial and the Junsen loans, et cetera, and as well, to offer some additional financing to the company for some expansion of its system.


And we are to the stage now in that process where we have done a substantial amount of market research.  We have compiled a fairly significant database.  We have compiled a list of potential projects that we feel are economic.  We have a little over $1 million, I think it is, $1.2 million, of capital projects, all of which have a profitability index of 1 or greater.


And we are just completing now the network analysis to ensure that the design works, and we are hoping within a short period of time to have that package ready to go to lenders so that we can get on with the construction of those pipelines late in calendar 2005.


MR. FAYE:  And so have you had any further discussions with the potential lenders, or have you been involved in preparing this capital forecast all this time?


MR. BLAKE:  We have been largely involved in the capital forecast, and we have spent a significant amount of management time as well on this case and on our appeal case and on preparing some information for our upcoming rate filing and determining how that will be processed.


We have not spoken at any length to any lenders, other than to inform them that we are still there and still looking forward to bringing them a package sometime in the upcoming months so that it can be reviewed, and hopefully then we can move forward with term sheets and that sort of thing.


MR. FAYE:  Are you able to identify who the potential lenders are?


MR. BLAKE:  I would prefer not, but ‑‑ I guess I would prefer not.  I could tell you that they are ‑‑ the two primary ones that we are talking to are both chartered banks.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  What part of the debt would you be refinancing, just so that we have some clarity on that issue?


MR. BLAKE:  We would be refinancing all of it.


MR. FAYE:  And do I understand “all of it” to mean long‑term debt, the short‑term operating line and the unfunded, the so‑called plug number, as well?


MR. BLAKE:  Well, part of the plug number would get funded because of the additional loans required to fund the capital expenditures, so it would ‑‑ part of that unfunded debt would become funded.  Am I correct on that, Randy?


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct, yes.


MR. FAYE:  And the unfunded portion right now is about 1.8 million; is that a good enough round number to use?


MR. BLAKE:  I think from that schedule, Exhibit 3.3, and fiscal 2005, it is ‑‑


MR. FAYE:  1.6.


MR. BLAKE:  ‑‑ 1.6, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  How much of that would you anticipate funding?


MR. AIKEN:  I don't know that we can provide an estimate, because if NRG has 1.2 in capital expenditures over the next couple of years, that is going to drive up the rate base.  Fifty percent of that increase will be deemed equity, and then the long‑term debt, if it is refinanced, would be the next major portion and, again, the unfunded debt is going to be that plug figure between those two sets of numbers, both of which are changing.


So sitting here today, I don't think we could provide a number, because the rate base is going to change depending on when that capital expenditure takes place.  The plug figure of the unfunded debt is going to change as to the amount of the long‑term financing.  In theory, the long‑term debt can be more than 50 percent of the rate base and the unfunded debt could be negative.  That, in fact, has been the case in the past not only with NRG, but I think in Union Gas's last rate case the Board approved a negative unfunded debt.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Blake, you must have given the banks a number.  How much do the banks think you are looking for?


MR. BLAKE:  I think we are ‑‑ initially, we told them that we were looking for something in the order of $5 million.  Now, based on our current numbers, we are probably something a little less than that, but on the other hand, in the analysis that we have done of those $1.2 million worth of capital projects, we did them all using some standard costs, and we are hoping ‑‑ we actually have gone through some of the projects now and are looking at having them properly estimated using actual costs.  For example, some of them have some fairly extensive boring and directional drilling; there are a couple of river crossings and that sort of thing.


So that will affect it, and my suspicion is that 1.2 million will go up somewhat and it will also affect some of the profitability indexes, but a large number of the projects have numbers in the 2s and 3s, so I think they will still all be over the 188 threshold, as I call it.


So I would say something approaching $5 million would be the answer to your question.


MR. KAISER:  Does that help you, Mr. Faye?


MR. FAYE:  Yes, it does, thank you.

That number is in excess of the total debt number on the 2005 cost calculations that you submitted in evidence? 


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  That's right.  And I understand that this is associated with capital expansion of your system; is that correct?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.  In the current situation, we don't require any additional financing.  You know, we were able to finance our operations from our current cash flow, and we don't require any financing. 


And for us to go and prematurely obtain the financing, we have obviously the -- you know, we would have carrying costs on funds that were not required.  The lending institutions, I am sure, would want to know where we are spending the money.  And so I think, you know, those factors lead us to not obtain the financing until we have those capital projects arranged and are ready to move forward on them.


MR. FAYE:  I understand that.  What I am trying to get at is that the 5 million dollar number is a long-term debt number; right? 


MR. BLAKE:  It would be all on long-term debt, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  And just the operating line would be the short-term component.  There wouldn't be an unfunded debt component being funded here, as you have just mentioned. 


MR. BLAKE:  Well, I think, you know, and I stand to be corrected, but in my view of what would happen would be a portion of that unfunded debt would actually get funded.  Or another way to say it is, I think as we move forward with this plan, I think the unfunded debt will go down initially because of the increase in the debt, and over future periods the capital assets or the rate base of the company will increase as those assets are built and become used and useful and become rate base for the company.


So I think it will be -- initially, I think the unfunded debt will go down, and I think over the longer horizon I think we may be in a situation where we continue to have unfunded debt, yes.  That would take some work to try and --


MR. FAYE:  I am just asking --


MR. BLAKE:  -- organize that.


MR. FAYE:  -- in generalities here.  We are talking mainly long-term debt with this 5 million dollar figure.  There is some component of short-term, of course, but it is mainly long-term. 


MR. BLAKE:  Right and short-term debt for our company is a difficult thing, because our sales are very cyclical.  So in the winter where we could finance accounts receivable and inventory, our accounts receivable are relatively high, but we don't require any short-term debt. 


In the summertime, when our sales are very low, is when we would require some short-term debt for operations.  Lending institutions are only willing to loan a percentage of both inventory and accounts receivable, and so when we least need the money that we could raise through short-term debt is when we could get it.  In the winter when we don't need it, we could get it.  In the summer when we need it, our accounts receivable are very low, and it would shrink to a very small amount.


So our access to short-term debt is limited in that way. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  The last point I want to make on this refinancing is that the estimated percentage that the lenders have initially indicated might be available to you is in the 8 percent range; is this what I understand from the previous testimonies? 


MR. BLAKE:  We think that, based on some very preliminary discussions, that we are likely to be in the 8 percent range with a loan package of approximately $5 million. 


MR. FAYE:  And you previously stated that that loan package would be predominantly long-term debt.


MR. BLAKE:  It will be predominantly long-term debt, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  So you would be able to get 8 percent on long-term debt; would that be a fair conclusion? 


MR. BLAKE:  We would be able to get or we would be -- the lending institution would charge 8 percent for that long-term debt? 


MR. FAYE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. BLAKE:  Is that your question? 


MR. FAYE:  Yeah.


MR. BLAKE:  Yeah, that's our view. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  


I would like to touch just on a few other parts of your motion record.  Could I turn you to tab 1, page 4 of the motion record?  And at point 9, NRG states here that if it had been forewarned that the Board was going to take the methodology that it eventually adopted in that rate case, that it would have brought in additional evidence to support the applied for rate. 


Do I understand the additional evidence that you would have submitted to be these sheets that we have gone through previously with Mr. Aiken?  Is that the additional evidence?  Is there any other additional evidence? 


MR. BLAKE:  I would say that that would be part of the additional evidence that we would have brought forward.


Additional evidence may have been the hiring of an expert to assist us through the debt issue.  We were under the impression that long-term debt determination was not something that was a major issue in the last proceeding.  There were no interrogatories, we had no questions from Staff, no inquiries, and it wasn't until we got to the hearing room that it seemed to become more of an issue. 


So, in an effort to save regulatory costs and expedite the process, we did not bring forward any substantial amount of evidence on long-term debt.  We felt that there had been continuity by the Board in its methodology over many years.  The Imperial Life loan and the Junsen loan are not new, they have been around for years, the Imperial Life loan I think since 1995, and have been reviewed by the Board a number of times.  


NRG had provided what we call the Crosbie study.  We had an expert come from Crosbie & Company who provided, and we have it here, provided a thick volume and a financing study, and so forth, and the same methodology had been used year after year.  And for fiscal 2004 the Board adopted the hypothetical capital structure and the deemed rate of 9 percent.


So what we were attempting to do in our evidence was take that deemed rate that the Board set of 9 percent and provide the Board with factors that would influence that rate, if the rate had gone up, gone down, that sort of thing, and that information was provided in the filing.  We did not contemplate that the Board would go to a hybrid, if you would like, of a hypothetical rate for the long-term portion but go back to using the actual ratios for actual short-term and unfunded. 


MR. FAYE:  Yeah, I understand that, and I am only pointing out, I think, that at the time that you filed your motion, you had this concern that an opportunity hadn't been allowed to present evidence that you might have presented, that might have swayed the Board to make a different determination.  I am only asking, given the opportunity that you have now, is this the evidence?  Is there any other evidence that you want to submit that would substantiate your claim for 9 percent? 


MR. BLAKE:  I --


MR. AIKEN:  There is evidence in the last proceeding that I believe would support 8.8 percent rather than 9 percent, and I am just looking that up now.  It is in the cost-of-equity evidence.


MR. FAYE:  This was evidence that was presented in the last proceeding, Mr. Aiken? 


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, it was.


MR. FAYE:  Not new evidence --


MR. AIKEN:  No.


MR. FAYE:  -- that you haven't had an opportunity to present.


Okay, well, I am not certain that there is merit in going through that evidence.  It has already been before the Board.  I am only trying to establish that when we consider the new evidence that you would like presented, it is this analysis that Mr. Aiken has previously submitted.  


I would like to just touch on your complaint that Union's long-term rate of 8.45 percent is higher than what the Board awarded NRG, and I just wanted to ask you a couple of questions.  The 8.45 of Union is a weighted average cost of their long‑term debt; would you agree with that?


MR. BLAKE:  That is correct.


MR. FAYE:  And the comparable weighted average of NRG's long‑term debt, I think we can take off Mr. Aiken's page 2.  Am reading this correct?  It says 11.37 percent on the top line of page 2, long‑term debt.  Would that be the comparable figure, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  That is the actual cost of debt, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.


MR. AIKEN:  Long‑term debt, yes.


MR. FAYE:  So comparing between Union and NRG, there is almost 3 percentage points’ difference here in long‑term debt?


MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And were you aware, or are you aware, that the last piece of long‑term debt that Union let was $2.5 million at 5.19 percent?  Is that a number that you are familiar with at all?


MR. AIKEN:  That sounds reasonable, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Has NRG any similar experience that they could relate to the Board to show that they had replaced debt at much lower rates than their approved rate, indicating a downward trend in interest rate?


MR. BLAKE:  We don't feel we had an opportunity to do that.  I guess we could have refinanced some of the debt, paid the redeployment costs and so forth, but then we would have been locked into a loan structure or a loan amount that was inappropriate.


And if you look at the Union Gas, at the loan portfolio or the bond portfolio, debt portfolio for Union, there are a number of instruments in that package that are substantially higher than NRG's as well, and it is simply NRG currently has these higher-cost loans that were obtained a number of years ago.  Twenty/twenty hindsight, you know, they probably should have been written on a shorter term, but at that time we thought they were being written at a fair rate and an attractive rate, and we proceeded with that.


We are now moving forward into the next period where we are saying, yes, we feel that we can refinance the package, but we always will have some disparity with Union, whether it is up or down, because we don't have the flexibility to obtain financing in lots.  We can only obtain financing in one package, or two packages.  If we were to obtain financing with a smaller portion on the primary part of the loan, then the next part of the loan becomes almost second mortgage financing, and a third part would be like a third mortgage financing.


And as the Crosbies have indicated, the premium on that second or third portion of the financing becomes very expensive for the company, and ultimately for its customers.


So we are attempting to refinance all of it so that all of the debt becomes in one package.


MR. FAYE:  It sounds to me like you are saying the comparisons with Union aren't legitimate; would that be a fair way of understanding your comments?


MR. BLAKE:  Well, I think you have to realize, when you are comparing with Union, that you are comparing their newest debt instrument, but you also have to understand that they have old debt instruments.  They have old debt instruments that are at more than 11 percent and that are coming due.


And if Union went to the marketplace and said, Okay, we want to draw those back ‑ I am not sure what the correct terminology is ‑ then they would end up paying some sort of a redeployment cost.  The market would have said, if they are bonds, they would pay it in the value ‑‑ that the value they have to pay to bring those bonds back, because bonds are valued higher if the rates are higher.

So the marketplace will set the redeployment costs for those bonds that Union Gas may want to bring back, and that's why they haven't refinanced the 11 percent stuff, because they would, in effect, have to pay a redeployment cost and it would end up to be essentially the same thing in the end, the same cost.


MR. FAYE:  Yeah, I think the point I am trying to draw to your attention is that Union has demonstrated some action to manage their financing costs.  For whatever advantages they may have that NRG doesn't have, I think the record demonstrates that they have taken some action, and the record doesn't demonstrate that in NRG's case.


MR. AIKEN:  I am not sure what you mean by the record demonstrates that Union has taken action.


I don't recall anything in the last number of Union rate cases where they have redeemed bonds early.  They have gone out and gotten new financing, but that is because the rate base is growing.  Like Mr. Blake said, Union has a number of bond issues that are out there at 11 to 13 -- in excess of 13 percent, and the question would be, then, well, why hasn't Union redeemed that 13 percent bond if they could issue a new bond at 5‑point, whatever the percent, the number was?  But the record does not indicate that Union has done this.


Union continues to finance its rate base, and the point I think Mr. Blake was trying to make is that Union has the advantage that it can basically dollar cost average over a number of years.  It doesn't go out and get all its debt in one year, because it has so much debt, and can get 200 million this year, 200 million next year, 100 million after that.


NRG, on the other hand, has what you would call a lumpy debt requirement.  It can get a better deal on the full 5 million than if they went out and got a deal on 3 million and then a second mortgage for 2 million.  That wouldn't affect Union if it went out and got 200 million and then 100 million.  It does affect NRG, because lenders don't want to deal with these small numbers and make them even smaller.


MR. BLAKE:  Or they don't want to take a second position. 


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you, that's helpful.


Just one or two more questions and I think I'll be wrapping up.


As I understand the way this long‑term and short‑term unfunded debt thing works, if you did nothing in the way of refinancing, the long‑term debt would decline because you would be paying off principal; is that a correct understanding?


MR. McCALLUM:  That is correct, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And then in the deemed capital structure, to offset that decline in the long‑term debt, this unfunded portion would have to rise; is that correct, too?


MR. McCALLUM:  That is correct, assuming the rate base remains relatively consistent.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And so if that happens, the unfunded debt attracts only the short‑term interest rate, not the long‑term.  That's right, isn't it?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct, yes.


MR. BLAKE:  Well, that is true in the Board's latest case, in the fiscal 2005, but in fiscal 2004, it was all grouped together.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, we'll stick with the 2005, just so ‑‑ I don't want to become unclear on this, so let's talk about the 2005.


And assuming that the Board maintains that sort of methodology, going forward, as the long‑term debt declines and the unfunded debt rises, the overall interest rate would come down, is the point I am trying to make; is that a correct interpretation?


MR. BLAKE:  Well, using some common methodologies, NRG could, you know, effectively pay out all of its long‑term debt within several years, assuming it makes no capital expenditures and so forth.  And that would -- you know, using that theory, that would be the case, that NRG could end up with no long‑term debt, a 50 percent equity ratio, if that was what was maintained, and the balance, in theory, could be all unfunded debt, which has attracted the short‑term rate in the past.


MR. FAYE:  And if you don't do a refinancing, that's the path you are heading down; is that not correct?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct, if we ‑‑ that Imperial Life loan will be paid off in another ‑‑ will be fully amortized in 2009, and then we would be left with, you know, some portions of the Junsen loan to pay off after that.


So ‑‑


MR. FAYE:  So the outlook, if no refinancing is undertaken, is that your requirement for an overall interest rate would be below the 9 percent that you got in 2004?


MR. BLAKE:  If that methodology was carried forward, that's correct, and, you know, if the company didn't issue some dividends or something else that may require it to attract more debt capital, then that would be true then.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Blake, I have a question.  It's going back to Mr. Faye's earlier line of questioning.  Given your awareness of the Board's concern from previous proceedings about the relationship between lenders and NRG, why haven't you made a greater attempt to give us information about the current owners or shareholders of Banco securities or any other further information that would give us some comfort about that relationship?


MR. BLAKE:  I felt that the questions I had asked on Friday were -- you know, the answers to those questions would be sufficient to provide the Board with comfort that NRG was not affiliated with Banco Securities, and if that's not the case, then I have undertaken to ask whatever questions the Board or Board Staff would like me to ask.  I can't guarantee that I can obtain, you know, answers to every question, but I am prepared to ask whatever questions the Board would like asked. 

MS. NOWINA:  So do we have that as an undertaking now, finding the ownership of Banco Securities, if possible? 

MR. MILLAR:  We have one undertaking, Ms. Nowina.

MR. STOLL:  I believe it is a little more limited.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the undertaking is not that Mr. Blake will answer any question we ask him.  I guess, perhaps, if I could suggest if there are specific questions that the Board Panel would like asked, or Board Staff for that matter, then perhaps those could be made separate undertakings rather than -- I am worried about an open-ended undertaking.

MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, yes.

MR. KAISER:  What is the undertaking we have now? 

MR. MILLAR:  It is an undertaking to inquire unto whom Mr. Graat sold the shares in Banco Securities.

MS. NOWINA:  Well, perhaps we could have another undertaking then, which is concerning finding out who the current owners and shareholders in Banco Securities are, and I guess in addition, if that question cannot be answered, the rationale why it cannot be answered. 

MS. LITT:  4.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. 4.2:  TO MAKE ENQUIRIES INTO WHO THE CURRENT OWNERS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF BANCO SECURITIES ARE; IF THAT CANNOT BE ASCERTAINED, THE RATIONALE AS TO WHY IT CANNOT

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, just so I am clear, this latest question or undertaking, who are you going to put that to?  Is that to this lawyer from --

MR. STOLL:  I would put it to the lawyer who has been doing the work for the trust and who provided the information that Banco was not affiliated with NRG. 

MR. KAISER:  If I understand, though, the question goes beyond that as to who the shareholders are of Banco.

MR. STOLL:  Correct, and --

MR. KAISER:  Would this lawyer know that?  Banco is not his client, or is it? 

MR. STOLL:  He might or might not.  We can try and contact Banco and ask them as well. 

MR. KAISER:  Banco is located here in Toronto, I take it? 

MR. STOLL:  It is.

MR. KAISER:  Isn't this the Cabbagetown company? 

MR. STOLL:  I am not familiar with Cabbagetown, but I believe it is a Toronto address that is listed in the corporate documents.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes. 

MR. FAYE:  Those are all my questions, Mr. Chair, for the moment, and we would like to reserve and review the loan documents that the company brought in, and there might be questions associated with those, and just review our notes to see if we have missed any subjects.  If we could take a break and have a little time for that, that would be appreciated.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Should we take a break now?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that point, do I understand that we got these documents today? 

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  We asked for them Friday, so I don't think we can blame the applicant.

MR. BUDD:  And I do believe, Mr. Chairman and Members of the Board, that the Board in the past and Staff have had copies of those documents in previous proceedings.  So you do have them on record, we just brought them together at your request in one place.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, would this be a convenient time to take the morning break? 

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think Mr. Stoll had suggested, and I agreed with him, that we were going to divide the issues into two, the first being the debt and the second the legal costs, and I think we had proposed that the Board also would also ask its questions on this issue.  So I am not certain if the Board has additional questions on the debt issue or if you too would prefer to look at the debt instruments before asking questions.

MR. KAISER:  I think we may have some questions, but we'll deal with them after the break.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Then I think this would be a good time.  How long, Mr. Chair? 

MR. KAISER:  Fifteen minutes. 

--- Recess taken at 11:15 A.M. 

-‑‑ On resuming at 11:42 a.m.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:

MR. STOLL:  Excuse me, Mr. Chairman, if I may, Mr. Budd has been making some calls to see if we can get some answers to your undertakings.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. STOLL:  And I believe we have some information.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. BUDD:  I know it is a little unusual, Mr. Chairman, for one of the counsel to sit here and give you an answer to an undertaking, because the witnesses haven't been able to confer, but the other thing I wanted to point out was I did not speak with the witnesses at the break.  Because I had spoken with Mr. Fuch myself on a couple of occasions, I just took the opportunity to just call him.


So maybe we can just proceed on the basis of the information that he gave me, which I would like now to convey to the Board in respect of those two undertakings, 4.1 and 4.2.


ORAL ANSWER TO UNDERTAKING NO. 4.1:


For the record, 4.1, as I understand it, was:  Who did Mr. Graat sell the shares to in 1998?  And the answer is:  To a company called Cidel Bank and Trust Company.

ORAL ANSWER TO UNDERTAKING NO. 4.2:


And then the second undertaking, number 4.2, was:  Who is the current shareholder/owner of Banco?  I understand that was the question.  And Cidel is apparently the ‑‑ well, let me back up a step.  I would like to be even more complete with my answer here to you.


First of all, Banco's sole director is Graham Jones, as you have seen from this morning.  The other piece I inquired about, thinking you might inquire of me as well, is that Mr. Jones is totally independent and is not an employee of any company related to Mr. Graat.


Banco's sole shareholder/owner is Cidel Bank and Trust Company.


MR. KAISER:  Do we know who owns Cidel?


MR. BUDD:  I do not, and I have never heard of them, Mr. Kaiser.


MR. KAISER:  Is Mr. Jones a lawyer, or do you know?


MR. BUDD:  I think Mr. Fuch told me this morning, or a few moments ago, he is an accountant.  He is a CA, right.


MR. KAISER:  And Mr. Fuch is with which law firm again? 


MR. BUDD:  Heenan Blaikie in Toronto.


MR. KAISER:  Are they the trustee for this trust?  Where does the trust fit into this picture, do you know?


MR. BUDD:  I actually don't know which one that would be.  I have not been involved in that at all.  The only piece that I know I am going to be bringing in front of the Board at some point, once we work out a notice of application, is a transfer of shares when Mr. Graat sold his interest and got out of running and owning NRG, the company, which he did a few years ago.


MR. KAISER:  That is something that should have been out some time ago, and we are just cleaning it up?


MR. BUDD:  Yes, the Board is cleaning that up.


MR. KAISER:  I guess everyone is aware of that?


MR. BUDD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Had discussions with the Board about that?


MR. BUDD:  Absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Why has that taken so long?


MR. BUDD:  There were changes in staff.  The first piece was that it had not been seen as something that had to be done ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Which is when he sold it to the trust, I take it?


MR. BUDD:  That's right.  And then when that happened, I was approached and I came to Staff immediately, and you have had a number of departures during the reorganization, and we have worked with Staff to get it coming.  And I think, frankly, it is a matter of just a couple of weeks away to having the notice published.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you refer to staff, Mr. Budd, you mean staff at NRG or Staff here at the board?


MR. BUDD:  Staff at the Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the delay in reporting the transfer of shares is attributable to what?


MR. BUDD:  No, sorry, if I wasn't clear, Mr. Sommerville.


Quite correct, the initial delay in reporting was due to an oversight on the part of NRG, the company, correct.


And then once that was brought to the Board's attention by myself, it just got lost somewhere inside of the OEB, and I brought it back and I have brought it back again, and it is now going to be dealt with through an advertising matter with Mr. Baumhard.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. KAISER:  Just so I can have it clear, because I'm sure it is scattered around the record here, the date of the sale of shares from Graat to the trust was when?


MR. BUDD:  I would have to undertake to find that out for you, Mr. Kaiser, but maybe Mr. McCallum -- do you remember?  


MR. McCALLUM:  It would be in November 2002.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  And the date of the sale of the Junsen notes, if I can call them that, to Banco was when, the same time?


MR. McCALLUM:  It would have been around the same time.


MR. KAISER:  As part of the same transaction?


MR. McCALLUM:  It was part of the same series of transactions.


MR. KAISER:  And Heenan Blaikie is acting for Mr. Graat or Banco or who?


MR. BUDD:  I think they are acting for Mr. Graat.  I have not been involved in this in any detail, sir.  I would be happier to answer your questions, be more forthcoming.  It would seem I just don't know.


MR. KAISER:  Would you tell us, though, who the trustee is of this trust?


MR. BUDD:  Yes, I'll find that out.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you wish to make that an undertaking, Mr. Chair?


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That would be 4.3, I believe.


MR. BUDD:  I would be happy to do that and I'll try to find that information out for you.

UNDERTAKING NO. 4.3:  TO PROVIDE THE NAME OF THE TRUSTEE FOR THE TRUST


MR. KAISER:  And you were also going to undertake to see if you could find out who was the shareholder of Cidel?


MR. BUDD:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  That would be 4.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. 4.4:  TO PROVIDE THE NAME OF THE SHAREHOLDER OF CIDEL BANK; OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS OF NRG

MR. KAISER:  Can I just follow up with Mr. Budd?  You mentioned Mr. Graat has sold his shares to this trust back in November of 2002.  Does he have any involvement in these companies at the present time, or is he out of it totally?


MR. BUDD:  I think he is out of it totally, although I did hear Mr. Blake say something about a role as secretary.


MR. KAISER:  Is he still on the board, do you know?


MR. BUDD:  I don't believe so.


MR. BLAKE:  I think he has ‑‑ he continues to have the official capacity as secretary at Natural Resource Gas Limited.


MR. KAISER:  Is he still on the Board, Mr. Blake?  Who are the board of directors now of NRG?


MR. BLAKE:  They are a chair, which is Trent Krauel, and then Mr. Graat remains as secretary, I believe.


MR. KAISER:  And a director?


MR. BUDD:  I don't believe so, Mr. Chairman, but I'll find that out.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Krauel is a director, I take it?  He is the chairman of the board?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Any other board members?


MR. BLAKE:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Just one board member?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Is that legal, Mr. Budd?  I thought you had to have more than one director these days.


MR. BUDD:  I am not used to giving a legal opinion on that.  I think you can have a sole director, absolutely.


MR. KAISER:  Really, in Ontario?


MR. BUDD:  Yes, I think so.  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would Mr. Krauel have been appointed by Cidel?  Is that how Mr. Krauel would come to be a director of the company?  That is the way, isn't it?


MR. KAISER:  Or he had been there for some time?


MR. BLAKE:  I don't believe -- Cidel has nothing to do with Natural Resource Gas Limited.


MR. KAISER:  How long has Mr. Krauel been chairman of the board?


MR. BLAKE:  I believe since November of 2002.


MR. KAISER:  Yeah, when Mr. Graat sold the shares?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And who appointed him?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is my point.


MR. BUDD:  Mr. Chairman, can I just, if it is helpful to the Board, point out, and for the record, in RP‑2004‑0167, at Exhibit A, tab 6, schedule 1, page 1 of 1, there is an organizational chart of the company.


MR. KAISER:  Well, let's turn that up.  I can't find it.  Do you have a copy, Mr. ‑‑


MR. BUDD:  I can just pass it to you, and then show it to the witnesses so they'll remember.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, can you find that?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  We'll get one.  You keep it with your witnesses.


MR. MILLAR:  I saw Ms. Litt with that very document.  Here it is, yes.


MR. KAISER:  The question that I think is in the back of my mind, Mr. Budd, while we are wrestling with this paper, is whether the trust might have appointed Mr. Krauel as chairman of NRG.


Now, prior to November 2002, was it -- Mr. Graat was chairman, I take it?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And he was replaced by Mr. T.A. Krauel on that date?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  I take it, Mr. Blake, you have continued as president and general manager throughout?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Are you the CEO?


MR. BLAKE:  No.


MR. KAISER:  Is the chairman the CEO?


MR. BLAKE:  I am not certain if we have a CEO.  I don't believe we have a CEO.


MR. BUDD:  They have never had a title of CEO, Mr. Kaiser, to my knowledge.


MR. KAISER:  But you would report to the chairman of the board, Mr. Blake?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And are you on the board?


MR. BLAKE:  I am not sure.


MR. KAISER:  I mean, do you not have board meetings in this company?


MR. BLAKE:  I guess probably official board meetings, but with only ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  No, real board meetings.

MR. BLAKE:  With only, you know, a few participants, we have meetings quite frequently that are -- could be, I guess, thought to be board meetings, but --


MR. KAISER:  You do have meetings that are called board meetings and you sign the minutes and send them along to the government to keep the government happy? 


MR. BLAKE:  Periodically we do that, yes.


MR. KAISER:  So are you a member of the board or not? 


MR. BLAKE:  I am not sure. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does Mr. Krauel have an office?  Where are your corporate offices?  Where do you actually work out of? 


MR. BLAKE:  I work out of the Aylmer office, largely, and then the head office for the company is actually in London.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's 685 Richmond? 


MR. BLAKE:  No, it is now at 1299 Oxford Street, I believe.  685 Richmond at one time was the head office of the company.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right, and it was also the head office of Junsen? 


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And a number of Mr. Graat's other companies; is that right? 


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does Mr. Krauel maintain an office where you are? 


MR. BLAKE:  No. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Where does he maintain his office? 


MR. BLAKE:  In London.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  At the Oxford Street office? 


MR. BLAKE:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And does he have a staff there that relates to NRG? 


MR. BLAKE:  He has staff, and periodically they relate to NRG, but largely they would be -- his staff are head office staff which, if you would like, and they –-principally, the functioning of the company is done in Aylmer.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And Mr. Krauel's undertaking has to do with a variety of other companies, including NRG. 


MR. BLAKE:  That's right.  He has some responsibilities for other companies, that's my understanding.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And what other companies would they be? 


MR. BLAKE:  They have some real estate companies that own some real estate properties.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the extent of it, Mr. Blake? 


MR. BLAKE:  To the best of my knowledge, that's all they have, is real estate companies.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. McCallum, can you shed any light on that? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's my understanding as well.  There are a number of real estate ventures that are still part of the group, and Mr. Krauel is involved in overseeing those.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, have you seen Cidel in any of your work with any of the companies? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I have not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You have never seen that company as a shareholder, or a noteholder, or in any capacity? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I have not seen or heard of that name until about ten minutes ago.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ten minutes ago. 


The sale of the instruments, the debt instruments from Junsen.  As I understand it, it was -- Cadigan -- Junsen to Cadigan and Cadigan to Banco; is that right? 


MR. McCALLUM:  There was no sale between Junsen and Cadigan.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. McCALLUM:  That was done as a corporate amalgamation.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right, so somebody bought the shares. 


MR. BLAKE:  No.


MR. McCALLUM:  No, the two companies just amalgamated together and they were still owned by --


MR. KAISER:  Which two companies? 


MR. McCALLUM:  Junsen and 27 Cadigan Inc.  There was a corporate amalgamation done, and then the debt instruments became part of 27 Cadigan.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you say that Junsen is winding down --


MR. BLAKE:  That is a different Junsen.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is a different Junsen? 


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So maybe you could help us and explain to us which Junsen is the Junsen we should be interested in.


MR. McCALLUM:  Junsen Limited is a Canadian company that held these debt instruments.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. McCALLUM:  And you'll see their name on the various agreements.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. McCALLUM:  There is another company called Junsen Corporation, which was a U.S. company that was involved in oil and gas exploration.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. McCALLUM:  That is the company that has sold its assets and is being wound up.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So were any of those assets or was any undertaking of Junsen Corporation related to NRG and the gas distribution business? 


MR. McCALLUM:  It was not. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that was really completely outside of anything to do with any of these companies.  They never held notes, they never had any interaction.


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that correct, Mr. Blake?


MR. BLAKE:  That's right.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So Junsen Limited is the noteholder? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And they amalgamated with Cadigan. 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's right. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And then Cadigan sold its shares; is that right?  Or no, pardon me, sold the debt instruments to Banco. 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct, that is my understanding of how it transpired.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But you weren't involved in that? 


MR. McCALLUM:  We were not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How did you hear of it? 


MR. BLAKE:  I -- you know, probably through Trent Krauel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So Mr. Krauel knew about it.  Did you change, you know, destination of the money? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.  You mean the forwarding of the payments and so forth? 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Where did it now go? 


MR. McCALLUM:  It goes to that Toronto address.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It goes to Amelia Street.


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the same amount goes to Amelia Street as used to go to Richmond Street? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There was no change in the amount. 


MR. McCALLUM:  There was not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And do you know what the consideration for the acquisition of the debt was? 


MR. McCALLUM:  The consideration, as we determined during the last hearing, was they were sold at face value.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what does that mean exactly? 


MR. McCALLUM:  If the Junsen had a note receivable on its books for, say, $165,000 from Natural Resource Gas Limited, they sold that debt instrument to Banco for $165,000.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So there was a straight pass-through of the debt; there were no changes in the terms or conditions of the debt? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The only thing that changed -- and there was no premium paid? 


MR. McCALLUM:  There was not. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the only thing that happened was that you started to send the cheques to Amelia Street and not to Richmond Street. 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And you still do that? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's still where the payments go. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And do you know if that company pays taxes on that money as revenue?  Do you have any idea about that? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I can't confirm that, but I would expect that they would. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you know of any relationship between Mr. Krauel and Banco? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I am not aware of any relationship.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But you wouldn't know. 


MR. McCALLUM:  It has not been disclosed to me that there is any relationship that exists, no.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you ever asked? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I have not asked that question, no. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Imperial Life loan, that was in -- were you engaged in the company in 1994, Mr. Blake? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, I was.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In your current capacity? 


MR. BLAKE:  I believe I was the President 

and General Manager at that time.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you ever been in anything other than a leadership position in this company? 


MR. BLAKE:  No. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And when that loan was entered into -- can you provide any background as to the Imperial loan?  Why was Imperial the lender of choice in this circumstance? 


MR. BLAKE:  I wasn't the person who negotiated the loan and found the lenders.  There was another person within our company at that time, his name was Ker Ferguson, and he was the person in charge of finding the lender and negotiating the loan and so forth. 


So I was there, yes, when it was put in place, but I wasn't the person that searched -- did the market search and negotiated the rate and so forth.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As the general manager at that time, did you make any inquiry as to competing bids for that advance? 


MR. BLAKE:  We had discussions, I recall, from -- with respect to alternate lenders and rates and terms and all that sort of thing, but you know, after this number of years I can't tell you who the alternate lenders were or what the competing rates and so forth were.


You know, obviously this was the most attractive instrument, and it was the one chosen.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, that is my question.  You say, obviously, it was the most attractive instrument, but you can't recall any of the process involved in securing that loan. 


MR. BLAKE:  You know, I -- you know, if I went back, I could probably reconstruct it, but you know, as I recall, it was used to pay out previous loans, and funds from that loan were used to expand the system and so forth, much the same sort of thing as we are doing now. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Were all of the loans related to that, I guess, then consolidating Imperial loan, were they related to the company's operations, or were there some other loans that were involved as well, or some other business relations that were involved at the time the Imperial loan was taken out? 


MR. BLAKE:  As far as I am aware, the only business relationship was with respect to NRG, Natural Resource Gas Limited. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Did Imperial hold insurance on the principals of the company? 


MR. BLAKE:  I don't believe so.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Would you know? 


MR. BLAKE:  I would not know that. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, those are my questions. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Blake, just a follow-up to that 

point, on the Imperial loan, I note that of the ‑‑ initially it was 3,750,000?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  Back in '94 when you signed the note?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  And section 2.03 tells us that 2.4 million of that went to pay out a portion of the Junsen debenture?


MR. BLAKE:  I didn't review the loan, but my understanding, based on my recollection at this time, now that you have jogged my memory, would be that that was a debenture that Junsen held with a long‑term loan that it was providing the company.


MR. KAISER:  So when you say that all the proceeds were used in connection with the business of NRG, that Junsen debenture had been, in fact, financing NRG?


MR. BLAKE:  The company had had financing from the affiliate of Junsen prior.


MR. KAISER:  And in fact, and your counsel can correct me if I am wrong, that's what has now been produced as Exhibit 3.10, that debenture of November 1st, 1990.  That's what was retired by the Imperial loan?


MR. BUDD:  I am going to say subject to reading it, but, yes, Panel, and that is my recollection as well is that there was an attempt to try to consolidate the debt into this one.


MR. KAISER:  Do you recall what the interest rate was on the November 1990?  I know this is going back into ancient history here, but ‑‑


MR. BLAKE:  I don't recall that.


MR. KAISER:  Now, you have told us, and the facts speak for themselves, that this was a 15‑year note when you entered it back in 1994?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct, a 15‑year amortization of the loan.


MR. KAISER:  And you have been paying it down regularly over that period of time?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes, the payments are blended, the principal and interest payment, of something ‑‑ of $44,525 per month.


MR. KAISER:  Now, you are probably the only person in this entire room that has been through this process over that period of time, but you have said that this note entered into back in 1994 has been reviewed by this Board from time to time over that period; is that right?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And you mentioned the Crosbie study?


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  That was a study, I take it - and I was not here - that you produced in response to some concerns of an earlier Panel; is that right?


MR. BLAKE:  It was produced and provided to the Board in EBRO‑496.


MR. KAISER:  And can you tell us, just in summary, what the result of that study was?  Who was Crosbie?  It was not the Minister of Finance, I'm sure, at the time? 


MR. BLAKE:  No.


MR. BUDD:  His name was Allen Crosbie.  Mr. Chairman, I think he was in business as the -- in the financial business and analysis business.  I remember him having an office in First Canadian Place, and he was there to provide expert advice to NRG at the time.


MR. KAISER:  And was the study produced at the Board's request, Mr. Budd?


MR. BUDD:  I don't recall, but I do remember it was a pretty co‑operative venture at the time.  I think the Board wanted to have evidence, and the company, too, wanted to sort of step it up a notch and know what was out there in the market, and everybody would feel more comfortable going forward with the loan arrangements.  That is the tenor that I recall at the time.


MR. KAISER:  And what year was that again, that that was filed?


MR. McCALLUM:  The date of the report was September 25th, 1997, and it was in response to some Board directives in EBRO‑488 and 491 that this report be provided.


MR. KAISER:  Could you file a copy of that in these proceedings, Mr. Budd?


MR. BUDD:  Sure, we could.


MR. KAISER:  In any event, if I am understanding the pattern of events, Mr. Blake, for ten years the Board accepted the actual costs of borrowing, is that correct, until we came to '04 or '03?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And then they knocked it down to 9 percent, albeit assigning all the debt at that rate?


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Maybe I can ‑‑


MR. KAISER:  Is that right, Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Yeah.  I was just going to add some commentary on back to 1994.


Fortunately or unfortunately, I was doing work for NRG at that time as well on their rates applications.  My memory is that prior to the Imperial Life loan, we had the 2.4 ‑‑ or NRG had the 2.4 million from an affiliate.  The Board had always raised a concern with that and how they would properly price that cost of that debt from an affiliate.


And they encouraged NRG to get third-party financing, and NRG went out and ultimately ended up with the Imperial Life loan and that replaced all of the affiliate debt, I believe, at the time.


MR. KAISER:  The 2.4 million?


MR. AIKEN:  That's right, and then between '94 and '97, as the company was growing - it was going through a rapidly growing phase at that time - they required additional financing and they obtained that additional financing through affiliates.


So the Board was concerned, I believe, that NRG was going back down the affiliate path again, and they were faced with the same dilemma, only to a lesser extent.  And that gave rise, from the direction from the Board, to have this financing study done to see, you know, if that would help them determine whether the price they were paying or the rate they were paying on the Junsen portions of this long‑term debt were appropriate.


And I think my ‑‑ I haven't read the Crosbie report in eight years, but I believe their summary is that basically if you have got the Imperial Life loan and you need additional debt, it is basically, you know, a second mortgage and I believe said, you know, if you went to the market to get that, you would pay something in the order of 16 to 18 percent.


MR. KAISER:  Well, you would pay more than the first mortgage.


MR. AIKEN:  That's right, and the Junsen loan or debenture is at 11.03, I believe the number is.


MR. KAISER:  By the way, just on this second mortgage/first mortgage concept, am I right in reading these notes - and I have only had a couple of minutes to do it - that the Junsen note, the new Junsen note, could not be paid off until the Imperial note was paid off in its entirety?


MR. McCALLUM:  That is correct.  The Imperial Life loan prohibits any principal repayments other than in the normal course of the Junsen debenture.


MR. KAISER:  Let's go back to where I was.  We go along merrily for ten years and the Board accepts the actual cost of borrowing on the Imperial note as that cost, and then they get worried and they start knocking it down to 9 percent under this one formula that they came up with, and apparently had some discussion with you that that might be warranted, given that you were going to seek refinancing and the rate might be lower; correct?  That's how they came to that 9 percent.  Is that a fair assessment of what happened?


MR. AIKEN:  I believe the way the Board's decision was written was that NRG could obtain replacement financing for all of its debt at a rate somewhat above 8 percent.  Now, there was no ‑‑ you know, I think we calculated at the time the break-even point would be 8-3/4 percent.


And then in the Board's decision, they made an allowance for the fact that NRG would have to borrow more than its current debt because of the redeployment costs for the Imperial Life and one of the Junsen instruments, and then there was also the $250,000 allowance in the financing cost amortized over ten years.


And other than that, I think that's ‑‑ you know, the Board came up with a nice round number of 9 percent.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  And then we go forward and now we have got ‑‑ we are now at the 8 percent range for the reasons that we have all discussed, and I guess I am trying to understand why it has taken you so long to get this refinancing done; what seems to be the barrier? 


MR. BLAKE:  Well, the first barrier was that the company didn't need the funds last year.  We didn't need it.  We recognized that there are still substantial numbers of customers in our franchise area that are unserved, and we determined that we wished to expand the company to serve those customers that are economic to serve, and we started about a process to evaluate that and determine the amounts of funds required and so forth. 


So it has taken us a long time to do it because we are a small company, I guess, and we have limited resources and so forth. 


And you know, we just simply have to fit that in amongst all the other things that we are doing, and unfortunately, it has taken longer than we would like, but 

you know, these customers are economic to serve and 

obviously most of them want to receive natural gas service, and we would like to move forward with it as quickly as we can.  But it seems that, you know, constantly there are things that occur that delay our progress in refinancing.  

We don't have any problem.  We know what it is going to cost.  I mean, we can calculate the redeployment cost with Imperial, we can determine that the other loans can be paid out and so forth.  It is a matter of putting that business plan together and moving the project forward. 


The last thing we want to do is to go out and get a loan that doesn't fit the needs of the company.  Just simply replacing that, the current loans, is not going to satisfy the financing requirements of the company over the longer period.


MR. KAISER:  So would I be fair if I paraphrased it this way:  You knew that you could refinance your existing debt and probably get a lower rate, but you also knew that if you were going to go to the banks, given your size, you better ask for all the money that you need in the near future, including any possible expansion.  And it sounds to me like you have just recently finished your decision making with respect to that expansion; is that fair? 


MR. BLAKE:  That's fair. 


MR. KAISER:  So would it be fair to say, in your view, in any event, you are only now at the point where you are ready to go to the bank and say, Here is what we need, 5 million; here is what we are prepared to commit to.  You get it all; give us a rate. 


MR. BLAKE:  That's correct, our fear was that if we simply replaced the Imperial and the Junsen loans and did not acquire the additional financing that was required, then we would be in that same situation where we would be then having to go and get second place or third place financing, depending on what was replaced, and that those instruments would cost us substantially more than what it would if we bought or purchased or acquired the financing on the entire package. 


And as I said earlier, we really didn't require the funds, because we did not have that plan in place.  So it has been our intention to refinance these loans for some time, there is no question about it.  We have recognized the Board's indications that they have given us in our rates decision that they want us to refinance them, but it is not something that -- this is major, a major undertaking for us.  This is, you know, 10 percent of our rate base.  It is -- if you can envision Union Gas suddenly one year increasing 10 percent of their rate base and what number of resources or the amount of resources that would be required to do that.


So we are moving forward with it.  It is our plan to move that project forward this year, hopefully to have the funds available by fall, so that in fiscal 2006, the beginning of fiscal 2006, we are hoping that we can begin construction of another application to the Board so that the Board understands what the capital projects are and so forth. 


But that all, unfortunately, for a small company like ours with limited resources, that is a very time-consuming project. 


MR. KAISER:  Now, it sounds like you have made a decision to commit these additional funds to internal expansion of the company to serve these unserved customers, it is a million dollars or so.  Has that decision been made by the board? 


MR. BLAKE:  By the Ontario Energy Board? 


MR. KAISER:  No, by your board.


MR. BLAKE:  It is a decision that has been reached through discussions with me and Mr. Krauel and our internal management, Mr. McCallum and so forth.  We actually have a little committee within the company, that is, our salesperson, our operations manager, our engineer, and so forth, and it is that group that is developing the plan.


MR. KAISER:  My question is -- I understand that you are a small company, but can we now safely assume that this missing decision, I'll call it, this missing piece of the pie, how much money do we need for internal expansion, you have now figured that out? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  You know how much more you need, the million dollars or so, on top of the refinancing capital, that decision has been made? 


MR. BLAKE:  That decision has been made, and that's been a decision that Mr. Krauel and I have discussed and it is now a corporate decision or a decision of the company to move forward with that project. 


MR. KAISER:  And when you are making these decisions of that magnitude, which in the scheme of your company is a substantial commitment, do you get any instructions from the trust or the trustee? 


MR. BLAKE:  We have not. 


MR. KAISER:  So the decision-making, the decision to spend a million dollars and expand your rate base, expand your pipeline distribution network, that is made by you and Mr. Krauel? 


MR. BLAKE:  It is to this point, but I am sure that the trustees will eventually be asked for their consent.  But as of right now, it has not been presented to the trustees.


MR. KAISER:  Once it gets presented to the trustees, and let's assume it gets approved by the trustees, would you then be free to go to the capital markets and arrange the 5 million dollar loan? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  And is that your intention? 


MR. BLAKE:  That is our intention.


MR. KAISER:  And how long do you think it will take? 


MR. BLAKE:  My -- I suspect that we have another couple of months.  I guess, you know, the short answer, I would think it will be something like 4 to 6 months before we have the final -- I would think that it would be 4 to 6 months before we acquire the financing and go through all of the processes in order to do that.


MR. KAISER:  And I know you didn't want to give us the names of the banks, and that's fine, there is only so many in this country, but have the discussions been more than cocktail-party talk?  I mean, are you in, at this point, serious discussions with these banks? 


MR. BLAKE:  No, we are not, and we have had, you know, very general discussions.  We have asked them, you know, some questions about, you know, levels they might be interested in and those sorts of things, but no, we haven't asked for any terms or term papers or term sheets or anything like that yet.  I would expect that we are about two months away from doing that.


MR. KAISER:  And that's because in the next two months you need to complete this approval process with respect to the trust and other members? 


MR. BLAKE:  We still have some processes to go through in finalizing the costs and the cost-benefit analysis and so forth for these capital expansion projects.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Blake.  Thank you, Mr. Budd. 


Mr. Millar, anything more before we let this panel go? 


MR. MILLAR:  I believe Mr. Faye has just a couple of questions.


FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FAYE:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have just a couple of questions around the Junsen to Banco transaction.  

Was there an assumption agreement between those two companies when the loan transferred? 


MR. McCALLUM:  I believe there would have been, yes. 


MR. FAYE:  Would that be available for the Board? 


MR. McCALLUM:  We can request it.  We have not seen it.


MS. LITT:  4.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. 4.5:  TO ATTEMPT TO ACQUIRE THE ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT MADE BETWEEN JUNSEN AND BANCO UPON TRANSFER OF THE LOAN, IF ONE EXISTS


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. MILLAR:  I believe we are actually at 4.5 now.  There were a couple while Ms. Litt was away.


MR. BUDD:  Yes, I have two. 


MR. FAYE:  A follow-up question on the Imperial Life loan.  Do the payments for the Imperial Life loan go directly to Imperial Life, or do they go to an intermediary who then pays Imperial Life? 


MR. BLAKE:  They go to an intermediary, and it was CCFL, it was Canadian Corporate Funding Limited, who have now changed their name, and I am not sure exactly what the process is, and it is now called Parklea -- it has Parklea I know in the name.  And, you know, I would have to check and tell you exactly what it is, but it is an offshoot of CCFL.  They divided their business somehow or other, and this is with -- our loan went with the Parklea of the business, once divided.


MR. FAYE:  And could you explain, just for my own edification, what are the benefits of handling the loan transaction in that way?  Why would you pay a third party who then pays the holder of the note? 


MR. BLAKE:  My understanding is that Imperial Life did not go directly to companies our size.  We would not be in their market to deal directly at that time, and my understanding is now they are right out of that business and they are not loaning -- you know, extending loans of that order. 


And companies such as CCFL assisted borrowers in finding markets for loans, and so they were -- they became an intermediary in determining or in locating this loan and expediting the loan and so forth, and they also managed the loan for Imperial Life.  Imperial Life has another name now as well.


MR. FAYE:  So that they would be an agent for the lender, not for the borrower?


MR. BLAKE:  They are an agent for the lender, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  And how do they make money?  Do you pay them a fee?


MR. BLAKE:  We don't pay them a fee.  I assume that somehow or other they are compensated by Imperial Life, and I am not sure how or what that would be.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, you have answered the question I was going to ask, and that is:  Who is Canadian Corporate Funding on the loan document?  

And the last question I have is just a follow‑up question to one of the Chair's questions, concerning your operation and reporting to the trust.  You work under a general direction from the trust.  Do you have something like a shareholders' declaration that says you can spend up to X amount of dollars without approval, and then something beyond that you have to go for the trust's approval?




MR. BLAKE:  We don't have any of that at this time.


MR. FAYE:  So you just make whatever capital outlay decisions you think are appropriate for the business, and then report in some general fashion to the trust without asking for permission?  Would that be a correct characterization?


MR. BLAKE:  I guess that would be a fair characterization, but obviously Mr. Krauel is involved and I assume he has more reporting to the trust than I do, to the trustees.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And has the trust laid down any objectives for the company to achieve?  Do you have an objective around capital spending or on maximizing return on investment?  What sorts of parameters do they impose on you?


MR. BLAKE:  We have no formal goals or objectives from the trustee.


MR. FAYE:  Any informal ones?


MR. BLAKE:  No.  Obviously, you know, I guess some implied ones, such as, you know, we are to be, you know, making ‑‑ attempting to make a reasonable rate of return and expansion of the company and, you know, those sorts of things, but it is not formalized.


MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  That's all my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.


Mr. Budd, Mr. Stoll, do you have any re‑examination?


MR. STOLL:  Not in this area.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  The panel can be dismissed, or is it the same panel for the next portion?


MR. STOLL:  It would be the same Panel to discuss the legal costs, and I will just be a couple of minutes.


FURTHER EXAMINATION BY MR. STOLL:


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Blake, just for the record, the costs, the legal costs that we are talking about, from what do they arise?


MR. BLAKE:  The legal costs arise from an appeal that was made to the Divisional Court.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And this appeal was heard on March 10th, 2005; am I correct?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. BLAKE:  Correct.


MR. STOLL:  And what relief is NRG specifically requesting with respect to these costs?


MR. BLAKE:  The company is requesting the Board permit NRG to establish a deferral account to track all of the related costs with respect to the legal costs with respect to the appeal.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And why is NRG making such a request?


MR. BLAKE:  The company felt that as a regulated utility, it should not be prohibited from seeking relief of a decision that it felt was inappropriate, and we are hoping that this Panel recognizes and agrees with this position.


MR. STOLL:  All right.  And this is probably for you, Mr. McCallum:  The figure that was included originally was $175,000; is that correct?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct, yes.


MR. STOLL:  And that was based on what?


MR. McCALLUM:  That figure was based on the projected costs to NRG of the appeal and an estimate for the costs of the outside counsel that Board would assign.


MR. STOLL:  And why did you include the costs of the Board's counsel?


MR. McCALLUM:  We included those costs because, in the past, when Board had used outside representation or advisors, NRG was required to pay those costs in addition to the Board's assessed costs.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And to date, what has NRG been invoiced?


MR. McCALLUM:  We have either been invoiced or received indications of the final invoice amount -- that would be for the month of March 2005 -- $65,600, roughly.


MR. STOLL:  Okay, thank you.  And if the Board were inclined to grant the deferral account, would NRG be required to come to the Board again for the actual specific recovery of those costs prior to being included in recovery?


MR. McCALLUM:  The clearance of any deferral account is up to the Board's review and approval.


MR. STOLL:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Faye. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, just briefly, Mr. Chair.


And forgive me if I am repeating some of the things we discussed in the last hearing, but I just want to make sure we are clear on everything.


Your initial estimate was $175,000, you have just said?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And obviously you are not asking for that amount anymore?


MR. McCALLUM:  What we have requested is that we be allowed to establish a deferral account so that these costs can be accumulated and be reviewed by the Board at the next hearing.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as you have said, the current amount billed, and I guess the amount that you are expecting for up to the end of March 2005, is $65,600, approximately?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And are you expecting ‑‑ I assume there will be some small additions to that once the decision comes back, but are you expecting that the $65,600 is probably 95 percent of the bill, of the total?


MR. McCALLUM:  That should be the relatively complete total from our external counsel.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I understand the appeal was heard on March 10th?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And it was a one‑day appeal?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, it was.


MR. MILLAR:  And I assume we haven't got a decision yet from the Divisional Court?


MR. McCALLUM:  There has been no decision yet.


MR. MILLAR:  And just to follow up on something, you indicated that the $175,000 that you had initially anticipated, the reason that number seemed a little bit high is because you were also anticipating paying some of the Board's costs, as well?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And did you mention that in our last hearing?


MR. McCALLUM:  I don't know if that was discussed at the last hearing or not.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Are any of you gentlemen ‑‑ I assume you are generally familiar with what the -- the subject of the appeal?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, we are.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand, just to walk us through a bit of the background, there had been ‑ and you can correct me if I am wrong ‑ some type of accounting error that led to an underrecovery on NRG's part?


MR. McCALLUM:  There was an underrecovery of gas costs relating to the period ended September 30th, 2003 ‑‑ actually, it ended December 31st, 2003.  It was for that 15‑month period.


MR. MILLAR:  And why was there an underrecovery?


MR. McCALLUM:  The purchased gas variance account that we had previously used, or the PGCVA, that we were all operating under the impression was accumulating all costs with respect to commodity costs - and that is our only commodity variance account - was capturing properly all costs related to gas commodities that we purchased.


As we found out after we had done our final balancing at the end of September, for which we didn't receive the invoices for until the end of October, was that that account by itself was flawed, and as soon as we changed the price during the year, commodity costs disappeared out of that calculation.  And without another variance account that we do have now in place, those costs were excluded from recovery.


MR. MILLAR:  And the underrecovery was something in the neighbourhood of $531,000?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand the process, initially you came to the Board to ask to recover that amount?


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, we did.  We brought forth an application as part of our QRAM at the end of December 2003 to permit us to recover that amount over the subsequent 12 months beginning January 1st, 2004.


MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand it, initially the Board did not allow that?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And then I understand you proceeded to a review of that decision?


MR. McCALLUM:  We were advised, upon a subsequent meeting with the Board, that it would have been proper for us to request that to be recovered in a separate application and we did make that separate application after that meeting, and then in April of 2004, the Board granted us approval to begin recovering those amounts, but not until our next main rates case.

MR. MILLAR:  I see, so it wasn't a review, it was a fresh application. 


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and I'm sorry, the Board did allow the recovery of the $531,000, but the issue that went before the Divisional Court, as I understand it, was NRG's ability to collect the interest on that amount.


MR. McCALLUM:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Is that the gist of it? 


And do you have an idea of how much money we are talking here?  How much the interest charges would be? 


MR. McCALLUM:  As I sit here right now, I can give you a range that we had initially looked at, and I believe it was between $80,000 and $120,000 by the time the whole thing goes forward, because we won't be able to recover the balance of the funds until 2008. 


MR. MILLAR:  But you would guess somewhere -- or not guess, an educated guess, anyways, would be somewhere between $80,000 and $120,000? 


MR. McCALLUM:  That was the range that we had determined some time ago.


MR. MILLAR:  And as I cast my mind back, during the initial hearing, I believe it may have been you or someone on the witness panel indicated there may also be a precedential value to this Divisional Court decision; is that correct?


MR. McCALLUM:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And could you explain that a little further?  What precedential value do you see from this? 


MR. McCALLUM:  The gas companies have long been operating on the premise that all of their costs are flow-through.  The utility should be committed to recover no more or no less than its actual commodity costs.


In this particular situation, because we are essentially financing the customers for upwards of four or five years, the utility is not being kept whole.  And for that reason there is a precedential value to this from the standpoint of being allowed to recover all of its commodity costs.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  In the Board's initial decision, the decision we are reviewing here today, one of the reasons they gave for disallowing the legal cost was that it would only benefit the shareholder.  And as I read NRG's pre-filed submissions, I note that NRG notes that if this appeal is successful, lenders will have more comfort in NRG's ability to recover both its costs and its carrying costs resulting from a Board decision.


I assume you stand by that? 


MR. McCALLUM:  Yes, we do. 


MR. MILLAR:  Are there any other ways in which a successful appeal would benefit ratepayers or parties other than the shareholder? 


MR. BLAKE:  I am not -- I haven't turned my mind to that, but I guess the -- another approach to the question is, had it been on the other side of the balance sheet, in other words, had the customers been overcharged, the company would have, you know, voluntarily refunded the customers, and I assume that the Board would have applied interest to that.  And it seemed to us that it wasn't reasonable that the company not be able to collect interest for the very same reasons.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  You are saying that you think the Board's treatment of this might not be symmetrical, as in had it gone the other way, they would have likely allowed the interest. 


MR. BLAKE:  Plus any other deferral accounts are typically allowed to earn interest, or there is an interest calculation so that the company is kept whole and/or the customers are kept whole when there are balances in those deferral accounts.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I understand that, but I want to make sure I can get an answer to this specific question.  You have given one reason in which you feel that there would be a benefit to the shareholder if the Divisional Court were to find in NRG's favour, and I am just wondering if there was anything you wanted to add to that, if there were any additional benefits that shareholders -- not shareholders, pardon me, that ratepayers might see from that. 


MR. BLAKE:  I guess, you know, maybe, you know, it could be viewed as well that the company has been prohibited, if you would like, of the use of those funds to use in operations for expansion of its system and so forth, over the period during which it has been collected.  So to that extent, the company has not been able to expand its service and so forth, and has had to in some cases -- you know, we haven't had to borrow money, but it has been funds that the company has not had on hand.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So NRG might have had some additional funds that could have benefited ratepayers in one way or another? 


MR. BLAKE:  In that -- had the funds been collected over the next 12 months, which is what we initially applied for, then that $530,000 would have been available to the company for expansion and so forth.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 


Thank you.  Those are my questions. 


FURTHER QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Blake, how did this error with respect to the commodity -- the quantum of the commodity, how did that occur? 


MR. BLAKE:  The quantum of the error or the actual error? 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, both. 


MR. BLAKE:  The circumstances that led to it, I'll maybe talk about that first, were that the gas price during that year -- the gas prices during that year were quite volatile.  And using the QRAM approach, which we were doing actually before everyone else was doing it, using the QRAM approach, what in effect we were doing was there was a delay or a lag in matching the price of the gas or the cost of the gas to the customers to our cost.


And during that period of rapidly increasing prices, the company was being saddled with those costs and we thought, and you know I am speculating, I guess, but I am sure the Board thought that the QRAM mechanism that we had was catching that.  In other words, the customers were being kept whole and the company was being kept whole.


When we discovered late in calendar 2003 that we were actually deficient by 500-and-some-thousand dollars, we then went back to prior periods and investigated to see what the amounts were there.  And in the prior years, where there had been less volatility of the price of gas, in two prior years, one year it was up slightly and one year it was down, and they happened to even out.  And so the customers were kept whole in the prior years, and the amount wasn't such that it was readily apparent.


But when it grew to be the $530,000, it quickly became apparent when we were doing our year-end financial results that there was a disparity, and we immediately brought that forth to the Board and advised them. 


The other utilities had an inventory balancing account, an inventory adjustment account I think is what their terminology was, and so that every time the price increased, then they would go and adjust their inventories.  NRG did not have that component in its QRAM process or in its price of gas cost adjustment process.  And the circumstances were such that during fiscal 2003 and the beginning of fiscal 2004, it was a large amount. 


MR. AIKEN:  I can maybe add on to that answer. 


The PGCVA, purchased gas variance commodity account, worked fine for all the years where the reference price was adjusted once a year, because NRG would balance how much it purchases each year with its sales each year as part of their direct purchase balancing account on the Union Gas system.  So those volumes would always match and the price was the same for that 12-month period. 


Once the price started rising and the reference price had to be adjusted on a quarterly basis, what the PGCVA then, in effect, didn't take into account was the inventory reevaluation.  And for somebody like Union or Enbridge, their inventory is always positive; for NRG it is not.  In fact, it is usually negative because they are drafting the system.  Their contract on the Union system starts in October and goes to the following September.  And they are delivering to Union under their direct-purchase agreements the same amount every day, so basically NRG's consumers are using more than what NRG is delivering to Union.  And by drafting ‑‑ and Union ‑‑ and, sorry, NRG is entitled to draft the Union system under the rate schedule that they pay for service under Union.


But what that means is if they were buying gas in the wintertime at a certain price, they weren't buying enough gas; in other words, they were selling more than what they were purchasing.  And in the summertime, they are buying more than what they are selling and that price difference, as that price rises, usually the summer price was less than the winter price.


This was a case where the price kept going up the whole year.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess that shouldn't have been a mystery to you, though.  That shouldn't have been a surprise to company management, should it?


I mean, I guess the problem arises is when you ask the purchaser, the consumer, to pay an interest rate on money that they had no idea -- on a debt, if you like, that they had no idea they were acquiring.  Isn't that the problem here?


MR. AIKEN:  No.  I think if the inventory rebalancing portion of the PGVA had been in place, that same $530,000 debit to customers would have been in place and would have been incurring interest.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, wouldn't it ‑‑ Mr. Aiken, wouldn't that have just been flowing through without any interest payment attached to it?  It's a commodity charge.


MR. AIKEN:  No, there is interest that accrues on the PGVA balance, and the PGVA balance would have been $530,000 more in the red than it actually was.  You are right on the flow‑through of the commodity costs, but it is the variance that goes into the PGVA.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I understand that.


MR. AIKEN:  And that $530,000 was part of that variance.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, I understand your point, but what I am getting at is wasn't it within your power and control, the control of the company, to make applications for adjustments on that on an ongoing basis?  This shouldn't have come as a surprise to you.  The volatility of the pricing of the commodity was not a surprise to your operations, and this outcome should have been anticipated and dealt with as it was occurring.


The problem is that there is an accumulation at the end of the year that is too big a bite for anybody to swallow; isn't that the difficulty that is at the heart of this?


MR. AIKEN:  On your first point of whether the volatility of this should have been known, I think the answer to that would be no.  I don't think anybody anticipated the volatility in the cost of gas that was going on at that point in time.  I mean, that's why the Board moved the other utilities to a QRAM process, because they knew it wasn't adequate anymore to do this on an annual basis, to change the reference price.  It had to be done quicker, because the forecast would be for, you know, a certain level, and then the actuals would come in three months later and there was a huge difference.


So I think the answer to your first comment is, yes, that this was a surprise to everybody, and that's why the QRAM process was implemented for the other utilities.


The second part about whether NRG should have been aware of this, I don't think there was any way that we could have understood, because the PGVA process had worked perfectly before that.  When the price was adjusted on an annual basis, which it had been done, you know, for five or six years prior to that, there was never any problem, because of the balancing that took place.


But now, when you change the price on a quarterly basis and the balancing doesn't take place on a quarterly basis, I don't think anybody at NRG or at the Board realized that the old existing methodology was flawed, or that this had created a hole, basically, in that methodology.


And, you know, NRG could not identify that until the end of the year, because in September, which is their last month of their fiscal year, that's when they have to buy the balancing gas or shed gas to balance with Union, and if that gas had have been at a different price, NRG may not have identified that problem at that point in time.  But with the escalating price, that is ‑‑ you know, they had to go out and buy the extra gas, and that's when they found out they were $530,000 short.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, thank you for that answer, but looking through this record, it seems to me there is a gap, and the problem is:  Who pays for the gap in accounting for these increased commodity prices?


And we'll take a look at the record and so on, and I take your explanation, Mr. Aiken, but it seems to me that that's where this issue really lies, is, to some extent, the reasonableness and the principle, if you like, that is involved in seeking interest rate for customers from an account that is intended at the end of the day to be a pass‑through of the commodity price.


Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  I have no questions.  

Any re‑examination, Mr. Stoll?


MR. STOLL:  I have no re‑examination.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, anything further?


MR. MILLAR:  No, I believe that concludes the evidentiary portion of the hearing, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Now, Mr. Stoll, you have suggested you might be prepared to do argument after the lunch break?


MR. STOLL:  I might be.  I would like to confer with my client just for two minutes prior to putting a position to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Take any time you need.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  We'll adjourn for five minutes to give you time to consult with your client.


-‑‑ Recess taken at 12:49 p.m.


‑‑- On resuming at 12:55 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, I understand you need some additional time?


MR. STOLL:  Yes, if we could have until 3:30 and make our oral submissions at 3:30, I would suspect they won't take longer than half an hour.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, can you proceed then?


MR. MILLAR:  At 3:30, absolutely, yes, and we won't be terribly long either.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll adjourn until 3:30.


-‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:51 p.m.


--- On resuming AT 3:32 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. STOLL:  Mr. Chairman, just a couple of points prior to my submissions.


I believe we have an answer to one of the undertakings that was given regarding the directors and officers. 


MR. BLAKE:  If I could just give you the list of officers and directors for Natural Resource Gas Limited, if you would like, at this time.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

ORAL ANSWER TO UNDERTAKING NO. 4.4:


MR. BLAKE:  The officers are myself, president; Trent Krauel as chair; and Anthony Graat as Secretary/Treasurer.


And then directors are Trent Krauel as the Chair and Anthony Graat is just a director at large, I guess, a director, and Sherry Graat is a director as well.


MR. KAISER:  Is that his wife? 


MR. BLAKE:  It's his daughter. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. STOLL:  We have made calls on the other undertakings, but we haven't been able to actually get in touch with anybody.  So as soon as we have answers, we'll provide those to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. STOLL:  Okay, and just with respect, we have one other issue.  We were looking at the transcript and Mr. Blake just wanted to clarify one point, if that is permissible with the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Go ahead, Mr. Blake.


MR. BLAKE:  When I was discussing the cost of debt, I quoted 8 percent as a number that I felt that could be achieved.  And I just wanted to clarify that that figure would depend somewhat on the covenants and other conditions that a lender would impose.  And we felt that the 8 percent would be based on something similar to the covenant package that we have right now, which is fairly restrictive.


Anyway, I just wanted to clarify that.


MR. KAISER:  The covenant package in the Imperial loan? 


MR. BLAKE:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. STOLL:  Those are all the issues I have prior to going into my submissions, so with your concurrence and those of my friend, I would --


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. STOLL:


MR. STOLL:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Millar.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


My colleague, Mr. Budd, was called away, so he will not be rejoining us this afternoon, and he extends his apologies for not making the Board aware of that before his departure. 


You have NRG's written submissions, and I would just like to add briefly a very few points, and I'll deal first with the cost of debt.  

For NRG, this hearing is about fairness, consistency and certainty.  NRG is requesting the Board treat its long-term debt in a manner that is consistent with the prior practice of the Board in dealing with NRG and also in the way the Board has dealt with Union and Enbridge. 


The table that Mr. Aiken went through highlights the disconnect that has occurred from fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005.  What we are seeking is a return to prior practice that we feel is consistent with the industry practice with Union and Enbridge, and we are seeking to correct this disconnect that we view to have occurred during the last two fiscal years. 


If we step back for a moment and we look at the progress of the original proceeding, there was no formal issues list, no interrogatories regarding the cost of debt, no settlement conference for the exchange of ideas regarding cost of debt, and no discussions with Board Staff, and therefore, there is no real notice that there was a particular concern with the cost of debt.  As mentioned, these instruments had been before the Board several times.


Mr. Blake testified that if concerns had been raised, then NRG may have done something else.  It may have retained an expert, and it is difficult to say completely what he would or would not have done, because part of that would have been formed by the questions that would have been asked and how they would have been posed to NRG. 


At this point, I would like to just address each of the Imperial loan and then the Junsen or Banco instruments.


The evidence was that the Imperial loan was completed in 1994 and has been before the Board several times since then.  Up to and including fiscal 2003, the actual interest costs incurred by NRG have been included in its approved rates.  In 2004, the Board departed from this practice.  

With respect to the Junsen instruments, these had been originally arranged prior to the Imperial loan, and they were paid out but not gotten rid of and they did not disappear with the Imperial instrument.  

In 2002, those loans were sold to Banco.  The evidence is that Banco is not affiliated, nor is it related to NRG.  At one time Mr. Graat was involved with Banco, but his involvement ceased well before the transaction occurred; his involvement ceased September 30th, 1998.  Therefore, all of NRG's current debt now resides with non-affiliated entities. 


During cross-examination, my friend suggested that the change in 2004 had somehow bestowed a benefit on or a bonus on NRG.  In fact, this is not the case.  In 2004, NRG's actual costs exceeded the Board-approved recovery under the deemed debt structure.  Therefore, NRG would reject the notion that it somehow benefited from the inclusion of the $25,000 in transactional fees that had been included in the Board's deeming provision. 


I would also like to point out that these debt instruments have been reviewed by what has been known as the Crosbie report.  The Crosbie report provides certain findings and I would just like to highlight three of them. 


First of all, there is -- and I think if we look to the executive summary, the points are highlighted in the executive summary. 
NRG is a small company.  As such, there is a premium associated with respect to it, in comparison to a larger company like a Union or an Enbridge. 


Second, and it is identified as point F in the Crosbie report executive summary at page 405, and it deals with the issue of the interest rates and third-party loans, and I'll just read from it:  

“Assuming that the related-party debt has a junior claim on the assets of the company when compared to Imperial, it would be reasonable to assume that the investors in this type of security would require an additional return in excess amounts that a senior lender would command.  Based on our experience, typically a premium of between 1 and 2 percent would be required above the senior lending rate.”


The evidence before this Board is that the actual lending rate of what were third-party transactions at the time is below the Imperial. 


Also, when Mr. Aiken provided his responses, there was a pattern in the answer, in that there would be financing with an affiliate.  They went to an external to replace the affiliate financing then to attract the second tier financing, NRG had to approach the affiliate.


NRG is seeking to break this cycle in the proposed refinancing and go to a third-party lender to finance all of its debt, long‑term, short‑term and a bulk of the unfunded debt.  Mr. Blake has testified what he thinks is likely to happen in that case.


In order to complete the third-party financing, NRG has had to undertake an extensive capital expenditure program and has undertaken certain market research and other system analysis in order to approach lenders to get to the point where it can have a term sheet.


As you have heard, they have progressed with this and are getting very close to the point where they can make this commitment.


In light of that, Mr. Blake testified that that financing would not likely be in place for approximately six months or so.  In light of that, we feel it is appropriate that NRG be allowed to recover its actual long‑term debt costs presently held.


And I would just like to reiterate that when we talk about an 8 percent refinancing, we are talking about the entire debt package.  Eight percent isn't available for a second tier financing.  It is not available for just financing the long term.  That's for a complete financing to move forward with the company.


Those are my submissions with respect to the costs of debt of NRG, and I will be very brief with respect to the legal costs.


And what we have requested is a mechanism to track these costs.  We don't want to ‑‑ we are not asking for a disposition regarding the prudence of these costs at this point.  We think that's premature.  As we heard, the Divisional Court has reserved its decision in this matter.


What we are asking for is a mechanism to track the costs that NRG has incurred through this appeal process.  It is our submission that these costs should be included in the deferral account for a review and disposition at the next rate hearing.  With respect to the legal costs, those are my submissions.


Finally, I would just like to sum up and say NRG wants to move forward.  They want to move forward with their business, with a sound business plan.  They do not want to be here discussing issues about first- and second‑place debt again.


Granting the relief sought and providing the certainty and consistency will provide comfort to NRG and potential investors, the certainty and comfort that these lenders will obtain from the knowledge that prudently incurred costs that have previously been included in rates will be reflected in the new debt instrument.  The certainty is not only to NRG's benefit, but would be to the benefit of NRG's customers and ratepayers.


With that, those are my submissions.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.


Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Faye and I have divided our submissions, so Mr. Faye will be beginning.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. FAYE:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.


Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel, you have heard Mr. Stoll's submissions on the debt rates applicable to 2005 test year for NRG.


The Board Staff would like to just draw your attention to a few issues that they think merit your consideration.


The first point is that NRG did not submit any comprehensive objective evidence about what market interest rates it might obtain for refinancing in the previous rate hearing, and there has been no new objective evidence about those market rates submitted in today's review either.


The second point the Board Staff would like to make is that NRG has in the past placed a significant part of its debt with affiliated companies, and when the Board expressed concern in previous hearings about those loans and about the covenants attached to the loans, some of them were sold by its affiliate, 27 Cardigan Inc., to Banco Securities.


Banco was first incorporated as a numbered Ontario company in 1994 by Mr. Graat.  Mr. Graat also appears on the records of NRG today as secretary/treasurer and, as we have just heard, as a director.


The company changed its name to Banco Securities from the numbered company in November of 2003, about five months after the Board expressed concern about the non‑arm's length nature of NRG's creditors in the hearing RP‑2002‑0147.


The evidence today is that Mr. Graat sold his shares in this company sometime in 1998 to a company named Cidel Bank and Trust.  Unfortunately, there has been no evidence submitted about who the shareholders of Cidel are, and so it is not possible to clarify whether or not this company is at arm's length from NRG.


Therefore, the question still remains whether or not the Board could consider the interest rates charged on these instruments to be market rates and not affiliated rates.


The third point that we would like to make is that NRG has submitted that the Board's decision on long‑term interest rate interest costs constituted an improperly conducted prudence review, and we would like to point out that setting rates consistent with current conditions is not a prudence review, but just the ordinary rate‑setting process of the Board.


And the distributor has an obligation to manage debt according to market conditions, and the Board has a duty to fix just and reasonable rates consistent with those conditions, and that's all that occurred in that rate hearing.


Fourth, NRG has submitted that the Board erred in applying a rate that they had suggested for refinancing the entire debt package to only the long‑term portion of that debt load.  NRG admitted in evidence that regardless of what path it takes, refinancing or not refinancing, its interest costs will inevitably decline.


Scenario 1, if it does refinance, it could expect to get a rate in the 8 percent range, which is lower than the 9 percent that it has requested.  We have heard evidence today that that refinancing package is predominantly long‑term debt, because the additional monies required would be for financing capital projects; that's necessarily long‑term.   Only a small portion, the $118,000 operating line of credit, would be short‑term.


It would appear that the interest rate in the 8 percent range for a long‑term debt is, therefore, appropriate.


And if we take scenario 2, that is, that NRG does not refinance its debt, then its ongoing principal payments on existing loan instruments necessarily pay down that principal, and future interest costs will be lower as a result.


You combine that fact with the fact that there is $25,000 per year in the Board rates, Board‑approved rates, for refinancing costs, that in this scenario that is not refinancing, it wouldn't apply, then the only conclusion you can draw is the 2005 interest rates would have to be lower than 2004.


   So in either situation, either refinancing or not refinancing, the amount of costs attributable to debt is less than the amount awarded in the 2004 rate case of 9 percent, and that's the amount that the applicant has asked for today.


Fifth, NRG submits that the Board is bound to make consistent decisions and that changing the methodology of setting interest rates is somehow inconsistent.  The Board's methodology for setting the 2004 interest costs differed from that in 2003, and NRG did not challenge this at the time. 


It is worth pointing out, I think, that the Board does not set rates according to some predetermined formula.  They conducted a diligent inquiry into NRG's reasonably incurred costs for 2005 test year, and it arrived at just and reasonable rates based on the evidence submitted.


And finally, NRG submits that it was unaware that the Board had concerns about the continued application of a deemed debt rate because there were no interrogatories asked.  And the fact that there were no interrogatories doesn't release the applicant from the burden to make the case on its requested debt cost. 


And if there was any unfairness in not having been forewarned about what the Board wanted to hear, they have had that opportunity today.  That unfairness, if it exists, has been remedied by today's hearing, and they have had full opportunity to present whatever new evidence might be appropriate to convince the Board on the applied-for rate.  As we previously said, there has been no new evidence.


That's our submissions on the debt issue.  

Mr. Millar has submissions on the legal costs.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Faye. 


CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'll be very brief, Mr. Chair, Members of the Panel.


As Board Staff see it, on the legal fees question there are really two questions, and the first is whether or not it is appropriate for NRG to recover its legal fees for the Divisional Court case from ratepayers.  And if the answer to that question is yes, then a second question is whether or not the amounts claimed for the appeal are reasonable.  And obviously, if the answer to the first question is no, then there is no reason to address the second question.


On the first question, that is, whether or not NRG should be permitted to recover the costs of the appeal from ratepayers, Board Staff would like to raise just a couple of issues for the Panel's consideration.


The original decision found that the legal costs should not be recovered because a successful appeal would benefit only the shareholders and there would be no benefit to ratepayers.  NRG has argued that the costs of the appeal were prudently incurred, and therefore, these costs should be recovered through rates.  And NRG has also indicated that there may be some indirect benefits to ratepayers if the appeal is successful. 


NRG, in its motion record, more so than argument today, because I know Mr. Stoll likely wanted to be brief on this point, they are correct to point out that NRG is out of pocket on the interest amounts from the $531,000 in uncollected revenues.  However, it is not entirely clear to Board Staff that the ratepayer is meant to bear the burden of this risk.  NRG is permitted to make a regulated rate of return to compensate them for certain risks, and the Panel may decide that this risk is the type of risk that should not be recovered through rates and from ratepayers.


The second question relates to the quantum of the legal fees, if we are to accept that they are the types of fees -- types of costs that should be recovered through rates.


Board Staff is certainly comforted to see that the costs for a one-day appeal, or at least the better estimate now has dropped from $175,000 to something in the range of $65,000, and we did receive an explanation for that today.  However, I largely agree with Mr. Stoll's suggestion that if we are to allow NRG to recover these types of costs, a deferral account may be appropriate to track the costs, and then once we have the final bills in and whatnot, the Board could decide if the total amount was reasonable.


And subject to any questions the Panel may have of Mr. Faye, those are our submissions, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar. 


Any reply? 


REPLY ARGUMENT BY MR. STOLL:


MR. STOLL:  Very, very briefly. 


With respect to the fiscal 2004, NRG not raising the issue, I would like to make a couple of submissions.


The 2004 rate establishment by the Board was predicated on a transaction it thought would occur and they tried to, from our interpretation, approximate what that transaction would look like.  That transaction did not occur.  In the past, NRG has recovered its actual costs, and that's our primary concern here today and what we are seeking.


With respect to the timing issues, I would just like to reiterate the phrase that Mr. Aiken used this morning in referring to NRG's financing ability as "lumpy", meaning it can't dollar-cost-average by going to market every year for new financing.  By its very nature, it has a periodic basis, it can only go to the market every so often.  And by that nature, it is somewhat more limited than some of the larger utilities. 


With respect to the actual costs, these instruments have been before the Board several times.  The interest rate provisions have not changed.  These costs have been included several times.  From the applicant's standpoint, that type of endorsement is indicative that the Board is accepting of the interest rate on those instruments and, therefore, should be included.  If more information is required, I would think that there should be an indication of that. 


With that, those are my submissions, thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Stoll, you have made a statement in your initial argument to the effect that none of the debt is now held by an affiliated company.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, that presupposes, I guess, that Cidel and the trust, without getting into the vagaries of trust law, I guess one can say that a trust is not affiliated; fair? 


MR. STOLL:  Fair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think by definition, virtually. 


But if the trust operates to the benefit of Mr. Graat or his family, aren't we -- don't we have the same problem? 


MR. STOLL:  Which -- there are two trusts, I believe, that we are talking about.  There is the trust that holds NRG --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right. 


MR. STOLL:  Right. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And as I understood the transactions that were described respecting Cidel, that was also part of an estate planning exercise; is that not right? 


MR. STOLL:  The -- no, the sale of the shares by Mr. Graat of Banco to Cidel --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. STOLL:  -- occurred in 1998.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.


MR. STOLL:  That would be well in advance of the estate planning and trust formation in 2002.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, but there may be more than one trust? 


MR. STOLL:  There might be.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Until we know what Cidel is and what's happening with respect to that, the money flowing for payments for this loan may be going into a trust that inures to the benefit of the company. 


MR. STOLL:  It’s a possibility.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Which you can't rebut.


MR. STOLL:  At this point, no.  The conversation that I had with the lawyer was that Banco was not affiliated or related to NRG and that's --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. STOLL:  -- to the extent we can confirm what goes behind that.  I don't know the extent of the information that is available to track through or how many layers there are.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But you can see where that creates some difficulty about understanding the actual inclination to refinance this high-interest loan.


MR. STOLL:  I'm sorry, could you --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, what I am getting at is that if you have got an 11 percent loan at a time when interest rates are significantly lower than that, that the restructuring of all of this debt seems to have been a theme that runs through many of these cases.  Many of the cases involving this company have been predicated on the idea that refinancing was something we have really got to get around to at some point.


MR. STOLL:  Yes, but -- sorry. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And it has always been a little bit further down the road, the refinancing has always been sort of around the corner, but never now.  And I am wondering about these relationships and the loan and what part that may play in the inclination to refinance some of this debt. 


MR. STOLL:  I think, as we heard earlier, the refinancing was delayed because NRG wants to do this once and not end up where it is now, where it has first-tier and second-tier financing, so therefore it has to refinance to fund its operations going ahead. 


Part of that deals with this 1.2 million or 1 million dollars in excess of the debt load.


The potential lenders, rightly so, want to know how NRG is going to spend that money, and that's been part of the reason why the financing hasn't taken place to date.


Also, I think part of the certainty that we spoke of, it would be beneficial to have clarity in the resolution of these two issues when discussing refinancing with lenders.  The two issues I am referring to are this proceeding and the disposition of the appeal.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are suggesting that those ‑‑ that that uncertainty has an impact on a lender's willingness to extend money to the company?


MR. STOLL:  I think lenders want to be comforted in the way NRG recovers its costs, so to the extent that these proceedings impact that, I think certainty -- that costs that have been incurred and have been previously approved, would continue to be approved -- would provide comfort to the lender.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, just two questions.


The first arises from Mr. Sommerville's point.  There is no question, nobody would dispute the fact, that today an interest rate of 11.8 percent for the Imperial loan or 11.03 for the Junsen loan, now the Banco loan, is above market rates.


Now, you have explained the difficulties in not being able to refinance it earlier, and I'll come to that.


But one of the concerns, as Mr. Sommerville has expressed, is it may be the utility or the owners of the utility weren't too interested in reducing this rate because they were getting paid pursuant to one of these instruments.  And that all comes down to this question of whether there is an affiliate relationship and who Banco is, and now who Cidel is.


Given that that's a concern to the Board and you knew it was a concern, I am trying to understand why your client wouldn't be more forthcoming and be more eager to present evidence to show that these are truly unrelated parties, if indeed they are.


Am I missing something here?


I mean, if I was in your shoes and I was trying to convince the Board there is no hanky‑panky here, we are trying to reduce our costs and the reason we haven't are legitimate business reasons, I would get rid of this concern, but you don't seem to bring evidence that would get rid of that concern.  Is there some reason?  We are making phone calls in the middle of a hearing here.


MR. STOLL:  Well, just ‑‑ I think there is a couple of issues within your proposition, the first dealing with the rate.  If NRG is to go out and finance now, it would achieve a rate below the 11 percent.  However, as we also noted, there are several debt instruments of other utilities that are in excess of 11 percent.


With respect to the evidence, we have made inquiries of Banco.  We have been told by the lawyer dealing with that that it is not an affiliate, not a related party.  To the extent that we can try and do a corporate search, we will investigate to provide the assurances that we can that this is truly a third party and that there is not some hidden benefit somehow being flowed back through however many layers.


The information we have been given to date is that this is not the case, but I understand the Board's concern and I sympathize.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Graat is a director of the company.  Isn't he in a position to enlighten you about that?


MR. STOLL:  He is in a position to enlighten us about NRG, but he has no relationship for the last seven years with Banco, other than the sale or its shareholders.


MR. KAISER:  Well, all I am suggesting, and I just point this out as something that you may find, the Board -- it would, in my respectful view, advance your case and in the process assist the Board.  I would get a letter from Heenan Blaikie or whoever it is, somebody authoritative, saying here is Cidel, and, in my opinion, there is no affiliate relationship with NRG, if you can, because we can get rid of this issue real simple, if you turn your mind to it and get some proper evidence.  


It is very hard for us to deal with this third-party hearsay that we pick up on phone calls over the morning break.


MR. STOLL:  I understand.  I sympathize, and we will file our undertaking to lay out the information that we can on this relationship to give comfort to the Board.


MR. KAISER:  Now, my second point is this.


You started off your argument saying there has been a disconnect, and we all understand that this 11.8 percent interest rate has been received and used as a Board for almost 10 years, and then we run into this decision in June of '04, and the ‑‑ was it '04 or '03?  This was June 27th of '03, wasn't it?
MR. STOLL:  '03.


MR. KAISER:  And the Board says, listen, we are getting concerned.  You need to turn your mind to refinancing, and, by the way, we are going to deem 9 percent, albeit on all of the debt.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  So certainly, and we are almost at June, you knew two years ago that there was a problem at this Board with accepting the actual interest rate under this Imperial loan.  This is not a new concept.


MR. STOLL:  The Imperial loan or the Junsen loans?


MR. KAISER:  The Imperial loan.


MR. STOLL:  Okay.


MR. KAISER:  And the Junsen loan, right.   You knew there was a concern about, you know, we have gone along happily admittedly for ten years taking this 11.8 percent, and thank you very much, and in it goes as the actual interest rate, but at some point the Board quite properly said, you know, this is getting awfully high compared to market rates.  


So two years ago you knew there was a problem in the mind of this Board.  It wasn't just this Panel that showed up in December.  It was the previous Panel that first earmarked this.  That would be fair, wouldn't it?


MR. STOLL:  That is a fair statement.


MR. KAISER:  And then the subsequent Panel, of course, they piled on, as they would say in NFL terms, and knocked you down another percent, and I understand, and my question here really is you have offered an explanation today, through your witnesses, that this is a small company.  It is not Union.  It doesn't have a portfolio of debt.  It can't go to the market every three days.  It is lumpy.  People don't like being in second place.  As your consultant Crosbie says, they have to pay more for that, and so on and so forth, so you want to go out in one block.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  And as I tried to give the maximum benefit to your explanation, you weren't ready to go out in one block until you figured out what you were going to need for your internal expansion?


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  That was the sort of last piece.


MR. STOLL:  Correct.


MR. KAISER:  So you could put it all Humpty-Dumpty together in one, not only refinancing Junsen and refinancing Imperial, but getting your capital requirements for your next expansion in there, as well.  Was this explanation offered to the previous panel?


MR. STOLL:  My recollection of the evidence is that we told the previous Panel that we were in the midst of preparing the capital forecast, that we were trying to assess the amount that was going to be needed and that we were in that ‑‑ that we were actively involved in that process and that had been what had caused the delay.   And so in a word, I would say the Board was aware.


MR. KAISER:  And a side issue, these decisions regarding your internal expansion and the capital that might be required, were they put on hold in some sense while the main shareholder figured out what to do with his shares and whether he was going to put them in a trust or how he was going to reorganize his affairs?  Has there been some hiatus that has been happening over the last couple of years as this transaction took place?


MR. STOLL:  Not to my knowledge, no.


The capital expenditures by the company have been a function of the projects that have presented themselves by the customers, the cash flow ability to pay for the projects, and I would have to go back and review what other ‑‑ but to my knowledge, the shareholder hasn't directed NRG to withhold funding these capital projects.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, sir.


Anything further, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Stoll, we'll reserve on this matter and get back to you as soon as we can.  Thank you very much, gentlemen, for coming.  We appreciate your evidence.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks.  Safe trip home.


-‑‑ Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:15 p.m.  
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